
Agenda

Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny Panel
Tuesday 17 November 2020 at 6.30 pm
Virtual meeting viewable by weblink
From 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021, the Oxfordshire Growth Board meetings are managed 
by Vale of White Horse District Council.
Contact: Kevin Jacob, Growth Board Democratic Services Officer
E-mail: democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org  
Telephone: 01235 422191
Website: www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org 

Members:

Councillor Andrew Gant (Chair)
Councillor John Tanner
Councillor Craig Simmons

Oxford City Council 

Councillor Tom Wallis 
Councillor Lucinda Wing
Councillor Sean Woodcock, (Vice-Chair)

Cherwell District Council

Councillor Nick Carter
Councillor Damian Haywood
Councillor Richard Webber

Oxfordshire County Council 

Councillor Peter Dragonetti
Councillor David Turner
Councillor Sarah Gray 

South Oxfordshire District Council 

Councillor Andy Cooke
Councillor Jenny Hannaby
Councillor Matt Barber

Vale of White Horse District Council

Councillor Derek Cotterill 
Councillor Alex Postan
Councillor Julian Cooper

West Oxfordshire District Council 

The quorum is six members, one from each council. Substitutes are allowed and should be 
notified to the contact above. 

The meeting will be web streamed. Please see the note at: 
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=604&MId=2786 on how to 
observe the meeting. 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the contact officer 
know in advance of this meeting.  

mailto:democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org
http://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=604&MId=2786


AGENDA

1.  Apologies for absence, substitutes; declarations of interest and 
Chair's announcements  

2.  Minutes of the previous meetings  (Pages 6 - 17)

To approve the minutes of the meetings held on 15 September 2020 and 21 October 2020.

3.  Public participation  (To Follow)

Members of the public may submit an address or question in writing to the Scrutiny 
Panel, where full notice of the question or address is given to the secretariat no later than 
17:00 on Wednesday 11 November 2020.  Questions and addresses submitted should 
be no longer than one side of A4 paper in Arial 12 font. The address or question will be 
circulated to the Panel and public speakers will be invited to speak at the virtual meeting, 
subject to technical arrangements being in place. Written submissions may also be read 
out by the Chair or Democratic Services Officer where requested or if the person making 
the request for public speaking is not able to attend the meeting.  A response may be 
given at the meeting or a written answer supplied. 

Questions and notice of addresses must be submitted to 
democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org 

4.  Growth Board response to Scrutiny Panel recommendations  
(Pages 18 - 23)

To consider the Growth Board’s response to the recommendations from the Scrutiny 
Panel meetings on 15 September 2020 and 21 October 2020, (Appendix 1)

5.  Scrutiny Panel Task and Finish Group Suggestion Form - private 
investment in infrastructure  (Pages 24 - 28)

To consider a proposal to establish a Panel Task and Finish Group 

6.  Oxfordshire Economic Recovery Plan  (Pages 29 - 48)

As requested by the Scrutiny Panel at its previous meeting, the Panel has been provided 
with a presentation given to the Oxfordshire Growth Board on 22 September concerning 
progress in the development of an Economic Recovery Plan for Oxfordshire, which is 

mailto:democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org


being developed in response to Covid-19 pandemic.  

7.  The promotion of Low/Zero Carbon Housing in Oxfordshire  (Pages 
49 - 60)

To a review a report to the Growth Board setting out progress to date against the 
recommendations approved by the Growth Board in March 2020 concerning Zero Carbon 
Housing.

8.  Oxford to Cambridge Arc Update  (Verbal Report)

To receive any relevant updates from Chair of Executive Officer Group concerning any 
developments within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc. (Verbal Report)

9.  Inclusive Economy Seminars Summary Report  (Pages 61 - 100)

To consider a report to the Growth Board sharing the summary findings and learning from 
the seminar series as well as the report’s recommendations to inform next steps to 
establish an Inclusive Economy Commission.

10.  Housing and Growth Deal Reports  

(a)  Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Update (Pages 101 - 105)

To consider a report to the Growth Board setting out an update on progress in the 
development of the Oxfordshire Plan ahead of the Regulation 18 (Part 2) 
consultation.

(b)  Oxfordshire Plan 2050 sub-group update (Pages 106 - 112)

To receive summary notes from the meetings held on 17 September 2020 and 15 
October 2020.

(c)  Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report - Quarter Two Year Three 
(Pages 113 - 121)

To consider a report to the Growth Board setting out the Quarter 2 2020/2021 
progress report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and any 
amendments to the work programme as necessary. 

(d)  Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Report Quarter 2 2020/21 (Pages 
122 - 129)

To consider a report to the Growth Board setting out the Quarter 2 2020/21 
financial outturn report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.



(e)  Housing Advisory Sub-group update (To Follow)

To receive the summary notes from the meeting held on 27 October 2020. (To 
follow)

11.  Work Programme for the Scrutiny Panel and Action Log - 
November 2020  (Pages 130 - 132)

To discuss the draft work programme for the Panel as submitted by the Panel’s Scrutiny 
Officer and requests for information/actions from previous meetings. 

12.  Dates of next meetings  

The dates of future Scrutiny Panel meetings are below. 

 Tues 19 Jan 2021 6.30 pm 
 Tues 16 Feb 2021 6.30 pm
 Tues 16 Mar 2021 6.30 pm 
 Tues 1 June 2021 6.30 pm

Councillors’ duties on declaring interests

General duty
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the council’s area; licences for land in the council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s register of interests 
which is publicly available on the council’s website. 

Declaring an interest 
Where any matter disclosed in your register of interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.  If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting 
you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting 
whilst the matter is discussed. 

Member’s Code of Conduct and public perception 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Councillors’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer 
an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place 
yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is 
that the matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the code as a whole and regard 
should continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if 
they were civil partners.  





Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny 
Panel

HELD ON TUESDAY 15 SEPTEMBER 2020 AT 6.30 PM HELD VIRTUALLY

Present:

Councillors Andrew Gant (Chair), Matthew Barber, Nick Carter, Councillor Andy Cooke, 
Peter Dragonetti, Andy Graham, Sarah Gray, Jenny Hannaby, Damian Haywood, Alex 
Postan, Craig Simmons, John Tanner, David Turner, Richard Webber, Lucinda Wing and 
Sean Woodcock, (Vice-Chair)

Officers contributing to and supporting the Panel:
Amit Alva Project and Scrutiny Officer – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Susan Harbour Strategic Partnerships Manager – South and Vale District Councils
Bev Hindle Growth Board Director – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Kevin Jacob Democratic Services Officer – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Stefan Robinson Growth Board Manager – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Paul Staines Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Delivery Manager
Hannah Doney Head of Corporate Finance - Oxfordshire County Council

Other councillors: Councillor Emily Smith, Oxfordshire Growth Board Chair and Leader of 
Vale of White Horse District Council 

12. Apologies for absence, substitutes; declarations of interest and 
Chair's announcements 

Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor Derek Cotterill, West Oxfordshire 
District Council; Councillor Julian Cooper, West Oxfordshire District Council (who was 
substituted by Councillor Andy Graham); and Councillor Hayleigh Gascoigne, Vale of 
White Horse District Council (who was substituted by Councillor Jenny Hannaby).

The Chair declared that, in respect of Agenda 6.a, his spouse was a director of a company 
which could potentially bid to supply services to the Oxford to Cambridge Arc structures.

Councillor Simmons declared that, as a director of a company which could potentially bid 
to supply services to the Oxford to Cambridge Arc structure, he had an interest in respect 
of Agenda 6.a.

It was noted that a recording of the meeting could be found by clicking on this link. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_rFikJ9rIT4


13. Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 22 July 2020 were approved as a correct 
record subject to the correction of Cllr Postan’s name.

14. Public participation 

Dr Peter Collins, on behalf of CPRE Oxfordshire, submitted a question referring to the 
agreement by HM Government to a revised timetable for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. It 
raised concerns that HM Government had not been prepared to extend associated 
planning flexibilities and that this meant that the reduced housing land supply that 
Oxfordshire local planning authorities currently needed to demonstrate (three years vs five 
years) would no longer apply. He asked that the Panel seek a fuller explanation of the 
implications of such as change – including which local planning authorities might be most 
affected. Dr Collins also enquired whether the Panel agreed that five-year housing supply 
rules facilitated speculative development to the detriment of effective local decision 
making.

In response, the Chair commented that he felt that the Panel would be minded to request 
that the Growth Board seek a fuller explanation of HM Government’s position on housing 
land supply flexibility in light of the revised Oxfordshire Plan 2050 timetable. The Panel 
was not able to comment on the second part of the question. 

In discussion, members of the Panel referred to the importance of obtaining a definitive 
answer from HM Government on the housing land supply period given this was already 
being tested at appeals to the planning inspectorate. It was agreed to request that the 
Growth Board seek clarification. 

RESOLVED:  That the Scrutiny Panel recommends that the Growth Board ask HM 
Government to provide greater clarity in terms of the planning flexibilities within the local 
authorities and implications on the three and five year land supply with regards to the 
granted extension of timelines of the Housing and Growth Deal.

15. Growth Board response to scrutiny panel recommendations - 22 
July 2020 

The Panel noted the Growth Board’s responses to the recommendations from the meeting 
held on 22 July 2020 as set out in the Agenda. The Chair referred to the response to 
Recommendation 9 which asked the Growth Board, in its work with the Oxfordshire Plan 
2050, to re-examine the boundaries of the Oxford Green Belt with a focus on countryside 
developments and its potential impact upon flood risks. He felt that the issues of the Green 
Belt and flood risk were separate matters.

In respect of Recommendation 10, which asked the Growth Board to consider 
investigating ways to incentivise private sector capital investment, the Chair suggested 
that the Panel could pursue the matter further itself – potentially via a Task and Finish 
Group. Councillor Postan, who had suggested the original recommendation, asked for 
assistance from other members in seeking to further develop this idea.

The Panel in discussion, acknowledged the response of the Growth Board in respect of 
Recommendation 3 and responses to Freedom of Information (FOI) requests. The Panel 
wished to emphasise that it felt that any coordination between local authorities in 

Page 7



responding to FOIs should not be allowed to adversely affect compliance with response 
timelines. The Chair agreed to reinforce this point in his report to the Growth Board.    

16. Update from Councillor Emily Smith, Chair of the Oxfordshire 
Growth Board 

Councillor Emily Smith, Chair of the Oxfordshire Growth Board, attended the meeting and 
gave an update on Growth Board activity with a particular focus upon the Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc and the Arc Leadership Group Executive. This included:

 The appointment of three elected local authority members of the Growth Board to the 
Oxford to Cambridge Arc Leadership Group Executive (Councillors Smith, Hudspeth 
and Wood, substitute Councillor Brown). 

 The Group Executive had, to date, held two meetings with civil servants from the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. Topics discussed had 
included: the importance of the Oxford to Cambridge Arc to the national economy, the 
draft Oxford to Cambridge Arc economic prospectus, the effects of Covid-19 on the 
economy and unemployment in the Arc and the potential regional response to the 
impacts of the pandemic.  

 The draft Oxford to Cambridge Economic Prospectus was intended to set out how the 
Arc might respond to HM Government’s objectives around economic growth, net zero 
carbon and levelling up. It also laid out what the Arc would need from Whitehall in 
return.   

 It was felt that HM Government was positively engaging with the Arc and that it did 
have real influence at national level.

 As Chair of the Oxfordshire Growth Board, Councillor Smith had raised the need within 
the arc to achieve negative carbon emissions. This would mean going further than any 
current zero carbon ambitions and would involve the prioritisation of rail over road 
infrastructure

 There was a need for more effective communication in relation to the Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc. A greater focus, for example, should be placed on the fact that the Arc 
was a much wider than simply physical transport links. Further, there was also the 
need to improve understanding and transparency about the Arc’s governance 
arrangements.

 The recruitment of a full-time Oxford to Cambridge Arc Director. 

The Panel welcomed the appointment of only elected local authority leaders to the Arc 
Leadership Group Executive. They had previously recommended this to the Growth Board 
in order to maintain democratic accountability. It was noted that the Terms of Reference 
for the Group Executive and the number of representatives per area had been set 
collectively by the Arc.

With regards to addressing the challenges of climate change, members emphasised the 
need to develop appropriate green technology skills and experience in those working for 
and advising the Arc. Members questioned whether such skills currently existed with the 
Arc or whether there were plans to recruit to such posts. 

Officers stated that the Arc was currently at a relatively early stage in its development. The 
current focus was upon securing funding to provide a basis for the consideration of the 
next steps (e.g. recruitment) of the Arc’s evolution. As a region, there was a wealth of 
expertise potentially available – for example, within the university sector. The challenge 
going forwards is, therefore, to effectively harness and utilise this knowledge.

Page 8



In discussion, members welcomed the apparent general preference towards the provision 
of rail rather than road infrastructure within the Arc. They did, however, acknowledge 
Councillor Smith’s comments that there remained a range of opinions across the Arc on 
the issue of the Expressway.

The importance of both developing technical skills amongst the workforce and supporting 
local businesses to move from research and design to bringing products to market was 
raised by the Panel. It was felt be members that these were areas in which the UK had a 
poor record in comparison to many of its peers.

The Panel thanked Councillor Smith for attending the meeting. It was agreed that the job 
description for the Oxford to Cambridge Arc Director role would be shared with members 
for their information.

17. Items for information due for the Growth Board meeting on 22 
September 2020

(a) OxCam Arc Local Natural Capital Plan 
The Panel considered presentation slides setting out an update to the Growth Board on 
the establishment of a Local Natural Capital Plan and associated activity within the Oxford 
to Cambridge Arc. 

In discussion, the Panel strongly supported the establishment of the Plan. Members asked 
questions regarding: the progress of the measures set out in the presentation compared to 
activity yet to be undertaken, the methodologies, sources, scales of measurement and the 
legal status of the Plan within local plans.

The Panel was also concerned that for the Plan to be effective it would need appropriate 
status and legal weight. It was, therefore, agreed that the Chairman would work with 
Officers to develop a set of detailed questions.

It was noted that the presentation was to be given to the meeting of the Growth Board. 
This would provide a further opportunity for questions to be asked.

RESOLVED: That the Scrutiny Panel recommends that the Growth Board, when it 
receives a presentation on the Arc Local Natural Capital Plan at its meeting on 22 
September, asks questions to understand:
 
1. What methodology and sources of information will be used in quantifying natural 

capital?
2. What measurement will be used to assess the current level of natural capital, and to 

what extent this is being subsumed by development?
3. How will the Natural Capital Planning tool and investment toolkit be practically 

implemented? 
4. What additional protections will be added to existing planning constraints with regards 

to AONBs and the Greenbelt?                                                          
5. What status does the Local Natural Capital Plan have in the refresh of local plans 

within the districts? 
6. Whether there is an ambition to undertake a natural capital assessment across the 

county?
7. Whether there is an ambition to have carbon sequestration objectives within the Plan?

Page 9



8. How the existence of flood risk areas will be considered as part of the Plan?
9. How the Plan links with the EEH Draft Transport Strategy?

(b) Oxfordshire Economic Recovery Plan 
The Panel noted that the slides relating to this topic would be circulated after they had 
been submitted to the Growth Board on 22 September.  It was agreed to invite Officers 
from the Oxfordshire Local Economic Partnership (OxLEP) to present them at the next 
scheduled Panel meeting on 17 November.  

18. Growth Board Continuous Improvement Programme 

The Panel considered a report setting out progress to date in implementing secondary 
actions arising from the Growth Board’s review of its functions – with a specific focus in 
establishing a Local Nature Partnership for Oxfordshire. In introducing the report, Bev 
Hindle, Growth Board Director, stressed that the Growth Board was committed to making 
continuous improvement going forwards.

The proposed establishment of a Local Nature Partnership (LNP) in Oxfordshire would not 
only link into the wider network of LNPs throughout the country but would also help to 
support the work to develop an Oxford to Cambridge Local Natural Capital Plan. Further 
consideration was also being given about whether climate change should be brought into 
the wider Growth Board conversation and how best this could be achieved.

The report also set out progress in several other areas arising from the review. Additional 
updates on this work would also be brough to the Growth Board for consideration.

The Panel welcomed the report with its plans for the establishment of an LNP and the 
proposed addition of the Oxfordshire Strategic Transport Forum onto the Infrastructure 
Subgroup. In discussion, the Panel reiterated previous suggestions regarding the need for 
interim progress targets to help track progress towards Oxfordshire’s 2050 climate change 
goals.

19. Oxford to Cambridge Arc Update 

The Panel considered a report updating the Growth Board on work being undertaken in 
relation to the Oxford to Cambridge Arc. Commenting on the document, Bev Hindle, 
Growth Board Director, suggested that perhaps the key area of work was around the 
Oxford to Cambridge Economic Prospectus. HM Government had invited the Arc to 
develop and submit this ahead of the expected Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR). 
This linkage to the wider CSR process was important because the Economic Prospectus 
sought to change the landscape for the authorities and communities within the Arc around 
investment in the area. It also sought to emphasise the Arc’s contribution to the national 
economy.

The Prospectus sought to encourage HM Government to support the suggested initiatives 
with both funding and changes to processes. These would allow the Arc to continue to 
thrive in a post Covid-19 and Brexit context. It was expected that the document would be 
submitted to HM Government in late September – a wider public engagement exercise on 
its contents was also planned.  

Page 10



In discussion, the Panel reiterated that in order to drive economic growth within the Arc it 
was important that manufacturing industries were established and that there was a need 
for teaching and training of engineering skills at all levels. 

RESOLVED: That the Scrutiny Panel recommends that the Growth Board, in its 
aspirations of economic growth within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc, organise workshops 
and events to:

1. Promote the establishment of manufacturing industries

2. Promote teaching and training of engineering skills at all levels

20. Consultation on England's Economic Heartland's draft Transport 
Strategy 

The Panel considered a report to the Growth Board which set out a proposed response to 
England’s Economic Heartland’s (EEH) draft Transport Strategy. 

In discussion, the Panel strongly supported the draft response to the consultation – set out 
in Appendix Two of the report. They particularly focused upon the concerns expressed in 
relation to the uncertainty around the statutory status of the proposed Transport Strategy 
and policies 12, 23 and 24. 

Members also felt that there were apparent contradictions within the document between its 
recognition of the need to shift away from car use and the listing of potential road 
schemes. The Panel also suggested that there was a lack of emphasis on the importance 
of digital connectivity especially in a post Covid-19 world.

Discussions also centred on the lack of an explicit mention of the proposed Oxford to 
Cambridge Expressway. It was felt that the Growth Board should seek clarification from 
HM Government regarding the current status of this project.

A range of views were expressed regarding the future of private and commercial vehicles, 
with specific reference made to the potential impacts that autonomous vehicles may have 
in the future – particularly in rural areas. Members also stressed the importance of 
integrating private and public modes of transport with strategic rail schemes. They felt that 
such considerations were currently lacking from the draft Strategy.  

RESOLVED: 

1) That the Scrutiny Panel supports the draft comments made by Growth Board on its 
consultation on the emerging EEH Draft Transport Strategy especially on policies 12, 
23 & 24. 

That the Scrutiny Panel recommends that

1) the Growth Board again seeks clarity from HM Government concerning the current 
status of the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway project.

2) the Growth Board, in responding to the EEH Draft Transport Strategy:

Page 11



a. Gives greater importance to Digital Infrastructure considering the revelation of its 
importance in a post-Covid world. 

b. Asks EEH to include research into autonomous vehicles in terms of personal, 
mass and freight transport in its strategy i.e. e-bikes, electric scooters, mid-level 
and long-range autonomous freight vehicles.

c. Indicates the lack of emphasis on Oxfordshire Rail Corridor and its key strategic 
nature, not just as part of East-West rail, but as part of the national rail 
infrastructure.

21. Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal

(a) Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report - Quarter 1 
2020/2021 

The Panel considered a report setting out progress at Q1, Year 3 of the Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal. It highlighted the key impacts to the current workstreams 
arising out of the extension of the Deal period by HM Government., Paul Staines, Growth 
Board Service Delivery Manager also referred to ongoing discussions with HM 
Government which were felt to have been broadly positive and productive.

In discussion, the Panel raised points around the design of affordable housing (including 
modern methods of construction) and concerns regarding delays to the delivery of such 
housing as a result of the pandemic.

Members were informed that, in design terms, every effort was always made to seek to 
build in extra additionality into affordable housing schemes. Unfortunately, however, this 
had been historically difficult to achieve, in part because of the comparative disparity 
between the financial attractiveness of grant rates under the Deal and those of other 
organisations e.g. Homes England. Officers, nevertheless, continued to look for 
opportunities and add in additional value for money if there was a good case to do so. 

In respect of housing delivery, the situation was not uniform across the county and there 
was some evidence of strong latent demand being fulfilled – although developers were not 
at peak capacity. The seasonality of development was also a factor affecting delivery.

Members also revisited the issue of whether shared ownership housing was truly 
affordable to residents in practice. While it remained classified in reports as ‘affordable’, 
the Panel noted the Growth Board’s request that papers going to the Housing Advisory 
Subgroup should categorise shared ownership affordable housing into two sub-categories 
based on the delivery of affordable housing at 80% of market rate and those purchasable 
with mortgages of no more than five times the median household income. It was 
acknowledged that there remained challenges in providing this information and that 
Officers would work with the Chair (outside of the meeting) to fully understand and 
respond to the request.

The Panel also referred to their earlier discussion around some of the uncertainties 
relating to three or five year housing land supply requirements and its recommendation 
that the Growth Board seek further clarification on the issue from HM Government.  

RESOLVED: The Panel noted the report.

Page 12



(b) Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Outturn - Quarter 1 
2020/2021 

The Panel considered a report to the Growth Board setting out the financial position of the 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal at the end of Q1 2020/21. In introducing the report, 
Hannah Doney, Head of Corporate Finance at Oxfordshire County Council, commented 
that its purpose was to independently set out the Deal’s financial position. The report 
would be updated in Q2 to reflect the changes to the Deal timelines negotiated with HM 
Government.

RESOLVED: The Panel noted the report.

(c) Infrastructure sub-group update 
At this point (20:38), it was noted that the meeting had become inquorate – there was no 
longer Member representation from each partner local authority. It could, nevertheless, 
continue if it did not make any further formal recommendations to the Growth Board.

The Panel noted the summary notes of the Infrastructure subgroup meeting held on 24 
August 2020.

(d) Oxfordshire Plan 2050 subgroup - update 
The Panel noted the summary notes of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 subgroup meetings held 
on 16 July 2020 and 20 August 2020.

22. Work Programme for the Scrutiny Panel and Action Log - 
September 2020 

The work programme and action log were considered as set out in the agenda. Amit Alva, 
Growth Board Scrutiny Officer, referred to the earlier proposal for the potential 
establishment of a Task and Finish Group to consider how the issue of private sector 
investment in capital projects could be incentivised.

It was suggested that the Panel might wish to add an item to its work programme on the 
outcome of the second tranche of the bidding process for HM Government’s Active Travel 
Programme, noting that Oxfordshire County Council had submitted a bid totalling £4.6m. 
Whilst the proposed schemes submitted as part of the bid were local, there was felt to be 
some impact between the Active Travel Programme and the wider issue of transport 
planning. This was supported by the Chair.  

23. Dates of next meetings 

The Panel noted the dates for scheduled meetings as follows:

 Tues 17 Nov 2020 6.30 pm
 Tues 19 Jan 2021 6.30 pm
 Tues 16 Feb 2021 6.30 pm
 Tues 16 Mar 2021 6.30 pm
 Tues 1 June 2021 6.30 pm

The meeting closed at 8.40 pm

Page 13



Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny 
Panel

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 21 OCTOBER 2020 AT 6.30 PM VIRTUALLY

Present:

Councillors Andrew Gant (Chair), Nick Carter, Sam Casey-Rerhaye, Councillor Andy 
Cooke, Councillor Hayleigh Gascoigne, Sarah Gray, Damian Haywood, Alex Postan, Craig 
Simmons, John Tanner, David Turner, Richard Webber, Lucinda Wing and Sean 
Woodcock, (Vice-Chair)

Officers contributing to and supporting the Panel:
Amit Alva Project and Scrutiny Officer – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Susan Harbour Strategic Partnerships Manager – South and Vale District Councils
Bev Hindle Growth Board Director – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Kevin Jacob Democratic Services Officer – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Stefan Robinson Growth Board Manager – Oxfordshire Growth Board

24. Apologies for absence, substitutes; declarations of interest and 
Chair's announcements 

Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor Derek Cotterill, West Oxfordshire 
District Council, Councillor Peter Dragonetti, South Oxfordshire District Council, (who was 
substituted by Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye); and Councillor Jenny Hannaby, Vale of 
White Horse District Council, (who was substituted by Councillor Hayleigh Gascoigne).  

Councillor Casey-Rerhaye declared that she was employed by Oxfordshire County Council 
in its Public Heath department. 

With the Panel’s permission the order of the meeting was amended to consider public 
participation immediately before Agenda item 4, Oxford to Cambridge Arc Economic 
Prospectus and after Agenda item 3, Oxfordshire Strategic Vision.

It was noted that a recording of the meeting could be found by clicking on this link. 

25. Public participation 

Dr Peter Collins, on behalf of CPRE Oxfordshire, submitted a question referring to the 
Oxford to Cambridge Arc Economic Prospectus and expressed his view that there had 
been critical lapses of democratic practice in the production and promotion of the 
Prospectus, including:

Page 14

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sdnYk8Yi1EM&t=257s


a. the Oxfordshire to Cambridge Arc Leaders’ Executive Group exempting itself from 
public scrutiny on the Prospectus

b. a failure in CPRE’s view to bring the Prospectus through the Growth Board 
constituent local authorities

c. a lack of recognition within the document that Buckinghamshire Council, 
Buckingham Local Enterprise Partnership and the University of Buckingham had 
withdrawn their support

d. the presentation of the Prospectus for endorsement by the Growth Board after it 
had been submitted to HM Government. 

Considering these comments, the Panel was asked to recommend to the Growth Board 
that it not endorse the Prospectus until there had been public engagement and local 
authority scrutiny. 

In response, the Chair stated that a full written answer to the question would be provided 
in due course and published here. Further comments raised were addressed under the 
substantive Arc Prospectus agenda item.

Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director summarised the status of the Oxford to Cambridge Arc 
Leaders Group as a non-statutory committee which met informally to discuss and advance 
the progress the Arc in response to HM Government’s invitation to engage with it about the 
region. As such, the Prospectus itself, whilst an important document, did not carry the 
status of a formal planning policy document. Finally, the geographic area of the Arc as 
defined by HM Government included all the communities within it and this was not affected 
by participation in the Arc Leaders Group. 

During the Panel’s discussion, the Chair acknowledged that there were some public 
concerns, which the question had referred to, around a perceived inherent democratic 
deficit and lack of democratic oversight around the Arc as a regional body. These had 
extended to the production of the Prospectus. The Chair indicated that he would make a 
general point to the Growth Board around the nature of decision making involving the Arc 
and that this was something the Panel felt should continue to be kept under review.

26. Oxfordshire Strategic Vision 

The Panel considered a report to the Growth Board introducing a draft Strategic Vision for 
Oxfordshire’s long-term sustainable development. The report set out the purpose of the 
proposal, the scope and content of the Vision and the benefits of wider public engagement 
and future Growth Board endorsement. 

In presenting the report, Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director, highlighted that the Vision 
was important to the future of Oxfordshire, but stressed that the draft included in the 
Agenda was the basis for public engagement and not a final product. An objective of the 
developing the Vision was to gain greater clarity of Oxfordshire’s shared future ambitions 
to help inform and support wider strategies including the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, but it was 
not a formal statutory planning document and its remit went beyond questions of land use 
to include questions around the kind of places residents wished to live in. It was also 
designed to precede the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. It was intended that public engagement 
on the Vison would take place prior to Christmas and once the results of this had been 
taken into consideration to present an updated draft to Growth Board for endorsement in 
the New Year. 

Page 15

http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/documents/b6940/Response%20to%20public%20question%2021%20October%20Wednesday%2021-Oct-2020%2018.30%20Oxfordshire%20Growth%20Board%20Scrut.pdf?T=9


In discussion the Panel was generally supportive of the draft Vision and of the planned 
public engagement exercise whilst raising several questions of clarification and comment.  
The links and relationships between the Vision, Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and sub-regional 
strategic documents including the Oxford to Cambridge Arc Economic Prospectus were 
explored. It was felt by some members of the Panel that there were some apparent 
contradictions in the draft Vision between a stated aim to remain Oxfordshire focussed and 
other parts of the document that referred to sub-regional and external influences. The 
Panel was informed that Vision aimed to strike the right balance between local issues and 
the wider context which also needed to be taken into consideration. 

The view was expressed that there was a need for clarification and correlation between 
existing forward looking local planning documents and policies and the Vision. There was 
also felt to be a tension between the reference to historical documents in the Vision, (many 
of which were considered to now be outdated, particularly around climate change and bio-
diversity), and the aim of the Vision to be forward looking and based on the most up to 
date information. 

Discussion of the engaged engagement exercise focussed on the Panel’s view that 
participation amongst younger people was crucially important given the long-term nature of 
the Vision. The Growth Board, particularly its local authority Leader representatives, 
needed to do all they could to engage with all their councillors around the Vision and to 
use their wider community network as much as possible to encourage as wide a possible 
response. 

RESOLVED: That the Scrutiny Panel recommends that the Growth Board:
1. be requested to acknowledge that the timescales in the final version of the Strategic 

Vision running from the year 2021 and its content may not necessarily align with 
existing forward-looking policies, plans of individual councils and partner organisations 
running up to the year 2030 and with this in mind the Growth Board ensure that 
continuity between this Vision and other policies & plans is carefully considered.

2. be requested to ask Council leaders to ensure there is clear visibility of the Strategic 
Vision public engagement exercise to the elected members of their respective councils 
and guarantee that they would be given the opportunity to read and comment on the 
text.

3. be requested to ask Council Leaders to encourage their wider networks and the public 
to engage with the Strategic Vison engagement exercise.

4. be requested to ensure that the public engagement exercise actively targets 
engagement with younger people (who are traditionally underrepresented in local 
government consultations) as part of a wider effort to ensure that views are sought 
across Oxfordshire’s demographic.

27. Oxford to Cambridge Arc Economic Prospectus Update 

The Panel considered a report to the Growth Board summarising the key points of the 
Oxford to Cambridge Arc Economic Prospectus and appended full copy of the Prospectus. 

In presenting the report, Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director, commented that the Arc 
Leadership Group had been invited by HM Government to submit proposals which could 
inform the expected Comprehensive Spending Review, currently expected at the end of 

Page 16



November. The primary target audience of the Prospectus was therefore HM Government, 
although it was intended to engage more widely on the Prospectus in due course. The Arc 
had been recognised by the National Infrastructure Commission as an area of national 
economic significance which would not grow as might be expected unless there was 
investment in the region’s communities and the infrastructure supporting that growth.  The 
Prospectus sought to make the case to HM Government why investment was needed in 
the region, reflecting the net contribution the Arc area made to the national economy, 
balancing this with a focus towards inclusive and sustainable growth. 

It was stressed that whilst the Prospectus did make the case for investment for 
improvements in existing road infrastructure to improve connectivity such as to the A34 or 
A14 it did not propose or advocate an Oxford to Cambridge Expressway. It did advocate 
the point that such improvements in road infrastructure should run alongside 
decarbonisation and initiatives such as Active Travel. 

In discussion the Panel noted and acknowledged that the Prospectus did not propose or 
seek to revive the idea of an Oxford to Cambridge Expressway, although the view was 
expressed by one member of the Panel that the prospectus should have gone further to 
explicitly rule out an Expressway given the perception of many members of the public and 
media coverage.  

It was confirmed to the Panel that the Prospectus was based around the principle of 
sustained economic growth, but that the challenge recognising the climate emergency was 
to ensure that this growth was environmentally sustainable as a key priority. 

After further discussion, the Panel did not feel it was necessary for it to give a view to the 
Growth Board on whether it should endorse the Prospectus. The Panel felt that there was 
some potential tension between the positions advocated within the Oxfordshire Strategic 
Vision and the Prospectus and that in producing the final version of the Vision, care would 
needed to be taken by the Growth Board to ensure that endorsement of the Prospectus 
did not undermine the Vision. 

RESOLVED: That the Scrutiny Panel recommends that the Growth Board ensure the 
policies and plans within the final version of the Strategic Vision for Oxfordshire are not 
undermined by the endorsement of the Oxford-Cambridge Arc Economic Prospectus.

28. Dates of next meetings 

The Panel noted the dates of scheduled meetings as follows:

 Tues 17 Nov 2020 6.30 pm
 Tues 19 Jan 2021 6.30 pm
 Tues 16 Feb 2021 6.30 pm
 Tues 16 Mar 2021 6.30 pm
 Tues 1 June 2021 6.30 pm

The meeting closed at 8.15 pm

Page 17



 
 
 
 

 
 
Growth Board response to recommendations of the Growth Board Scrutiny Panel  
Recommendations made on 15th September 2020 
 
The Growth Board is requested to provide a draft response to the recommendations of the Scrutiny Panel, to be published as a supplement 
collectively with the Scrutiny Panel’s report, for decision at its meeting on 22 September 2020.  

 

Recommendation 
Agree
?  

Comment 

Recommendation 1. That the Growth Board 

ask HM Government to provide greater clarity 

in terms of planning flexibilities within the 

local authorities and implications on the 3 and 

5 year land supply with regards to the granted 

extension of timelines of the Housing and 

Growth Deal. 

Yes The Growth Board, through its lead officers, has asked HM Government to 
extend various elements of the Housing & Growth Deal due to COVID-19 
impacts and other factors.  HMG has confirmed they will allow extensions to 
our three main programme elements (affordable housing, infrastructure 
delivery and Oxfordshire Plan 2050 programmes) subject to programmes being 
updated and provided for their agreement.  These are being submitted this 
week in hopes of agreement by the end of September 2020.  HMG has also 
confirmed there will be no extension to the freedoms and flexibilities within the 
Deal and in particular, the 3-year land supply for housing requirement 
exception will cease on 31 March 2021 as agreed in the Deal structure.  
 

Recommendation 2. That the Growth Board, 
when it receives a presentation on the Arc 
Local Natural Capital Plan, asks questions to 
understand:  
 

i. What methodology and sources of 
information will be used in quantifying 
natural capital? 

 
 
 
 

ii. What measurement will be used to 
assess the current level of natural capital, 

Yes The Growth Board was able to ask some of these questions to the 
Environment Agency at its meeting on 22 September, but there were acute 
time pressures at that meeting which meant that not all these questions could 
be asked. Following the meeting, we worked with the Environment Agency to 
provide some answers for the Panel in response to these questions, which are 
set out below. More information can be found on the LNCP website 
 
i. A combination of qualitative and qualitative data has been gathered from 

different sources to assess the value they provide. We have mapped 
natural capital using local and national datasets and used a natural capital 
accounting tool under development by the Environment Agency to value 
the benefits. 

ii. The accounting tool provides monetary valuations of the benefits derived 
and will be presented alongside more qualitative information on natural 

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 4

https://www.oxcamlncp.org/our-project


 
 

and to what extent this is being 
subsumed by development? 

 
 
 
 
 

iii. How will the Natural Capital Planning tool 
and investment toolkit be practically 
implemented?  

 
 

 
iv. What additional protections will be added 

to existing planning constraints with 
regards to AONBs and the 
Greenbelt?              

            
v. What status does the Local Natural 

Capital Plan have in the refresh of local 
plans within the districts?  

 
vi. Whether there is an ambition to 

undertake a natural capital assessment 
across the county? 

 
vii. Whether there is an ambition to have 

carbon sequestration objectives within 
the Plan? 

 
viii. How the existence of flood risk areas will 

be considered as part of the Plan? 
 
 
 

ix. How the Plan links with the EEH Draft 
Transport Strategy?  

capital across the Arc. We also have natural capital maps based on 
landcover type and Ecosystem Services maps that provide relative scores 
for a variety of benefits. The latter uses the same method as mapping 
done for Oxfordshire County Council and being applied in development of 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. The EA are not looking at the impacts of future 
development as part of this work, but are producing tools that will help 
others apply the evidence base and approach. 

iii. We are working with a range of stakeholders, including local authority 
planners, to develop a framework that they can use in developing policy 
and decision making. We will be testing this over the next six months at 
various scales from Arc level to neighbourhood planning to understand 
how the evidence base and approach can influence and support planning 
policy making. 

iv. The LNCP is not a plan as such, despite its name, and it will not have any 
power to offer or alter protections to existing green spaces. The Plan will 
however be a useful reference point for decision makers in their own 
processes for deciding where and how land is protected and where 
interventions to improve the environment should be targeted.  

v. As a strategic evidence base, the LNCP will have an important role to play 
in the future refresh of local plans. It will help local authorities to identify 
and manage their natural capital assets in an integrated way that will 
inform spatial planning. The Plan will however have no statutory standing.  

vi. This work is being led by Oxfordshire County Council and is being used to 
inform development of the 2050 Plan. The EA are working closely with 
Oxfordshire County Council and 2050 planners to apply their learning in 
developing the approach for the Arc. 

vii. The plan does not set targets and objectives, but we hope will be used to 
inform targeting of interventions to deliver objectives of local strategies and 
plans, e.g. where woodland planting could be focused to improve carbon 
storage. 

viii. Flood risk maps can be mapped alongside the mapping produced for the 
LNCP. We have also done an assessment of risks and pressures across 
the Arc, which covers flood risk. We are currently working with the 
Environment Agency on their flood risk project planning to apply the 
evidence base and approach in project decision making. 

ix. We have provided our natural capital indicator mapping to EEH to inform 
the strategy and their work.  

P
age 19



 
 

Recommendation 3. That the Growth Board 
in its aspirations of economic growth within 
the Oxford-Cambridge Arc organise 
workshops and events to – 
 

i. Promote the establishment of 
manufacturing industries 

ii. Promote teaching and training 
of engineering skills at all levels 

 

In part The Growth Board recognises that high-value manufacturing and engineering 
industries operating across Oxfordshire contribute to our status as a global 
leader in these sectors, with some recent examples of high-tech facilities 
expanding their local footprint. The County is part of the world leading 
‘Motorsport Valley’ comprising a £6bn automotive global cluster of high 
performance technology, motorsport and advanced engineering companies. 
Oxfordshire is home to a number of internationally recognised motorsport 
names including Williams F1 in Grove, Renault Sport F1 in Chipping Norton 
and Prodrive and Haas in Banbury, as well as global supply chain companies 
such as SS Tube Technology and Lentus, and the iconic BMW MINI 
manufacturing plant. 
 
Through the business support and skills development work delivered by 
OxLEP, and the Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (which sits within the 
Housing and Growth Deal’s Productivity Workstream) there is extensive work 
being undertaken to promote skills development in these key sectors building 
on the investment already made by OxLEP in four skills centres across 
Oxfordshire at Abingdon, Blackbird Leys, Henley and Culham focused on 
improving STEM education and creating career pathways and apprenticeships 
for young people.  
 
OxLEP works with schools, colleges and employers to deliver over 5000 work 
placements per year for young people, improved careers guidance in 
partnership with the Careers & Enterprise Company and initiatives such as the 
‘Transformative Technologies Tour’ which connects young people with leading 
scientists, technology companies and innovators with the opportunity to 
understand the careers and employment opportunities in STEM which are 
being created across the County. Alongside this a £700,000 Skills for Business 
Programme is also running which provides a host of support services including 
training, skills workshops and skills needs assessments for small businesses to 
develop workforce plans for their company to support their wider growth plans 
and invest in their staff.  
 
We have indicated agreed in part, as these events are not directly delivered by 
the Growth Board and for the most part are addressed through the Oxfordshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership or through local authority economic development 
teams/officers.  

P
age 20



 
 

Recommendation 4.  That the Growth Board 
again seeks clarity from HM Government 
concerning the current status of the Oxford to 
Cambridge Expressway project.  
 

Yes Following a previous Scrutiny Panel recommendation, the Growth Board wrote 
to HM Government earlier in 2020 requesting an update on the status of their 
Expressway Project. Baroness Vere’s response indicated that the Department 
for Transport would provide an update on whether the project would continue in 
“due course.” Following the Panel’s recommendation, we sent another letter on 
28 September 2020 which can be found on the Growth Board webpage and via 
our social media accounts.   
 

Recommendation 5. The Scrutiny Panel 
supports the draft comments made by Growth 
Board on its consultation on the emerging 
EEH Draft Transport Strategy especially on 
policies 12, 23 & 24. 

 Noted.  

Recommendation 6. That the Growth Board, 
in responding to the EEH Draft Transport 
Strategy: 

i. Gives greater importance to 
Digital Infrastructure considering 
the revelation of its importance 
in a post-Covid world.  
 

ii. Asks EEH to include research 
into autonomous vehicles in 
terms of personal, mass and 
freight transport in its strategy 
i.e. e-bikes, electric scooters, 
mid-level and long-range 
autonomous freight vehicles. 

 
iii. Indicates the lack of emphasis 

on Oxfordshire Rail Corridor 
and its key strategic nature, not 
just as part of East-West rail, 
but as part of the national rail 
infrastructure.  

Yes Agreed these matters will be covered in our final response to EEH. 

 

P
age 21



Appendix 1 
 
 
 

 
 
Growth Board response to recommendations of the Growth Board Scrutiny Panel  
Recommendations made on 21st October 2020 
 
The Growth Board is requested to provide a response to the recommendations of the Scrutiny Panel, to be published as a supplement 
collectively with the Scrutiny Panel’s report, for decision at its meeting on 30 October 2020.  

 

Recommendation 
Agree
?  

Comment 

Recommendation 1. That the Growth Board 

acknowledges that the timescales in the final 

version of the Strategic Vision running from 

the year 2021 and its content may not 

necessarily align with existing forward-looking 

policies and plans of individual councils and 

partner organisations running up to the year 

2030, and with this in mind, the Growth Board 

ensure that continuity between this Vision and 

other policies and plans is carefully 

considered. 

Yes The principle is understood, and the Growth Board agrees that the Vision 
needs to be clear about its own status, and the relationship it has with existing 
forward-looking plans and policies. The Draft Vision has been set with the aim 
of encompassing a collective view on what we want to achieve in Oxfordshire, 
and in this respect, it should provide continuity with existing ambitions of the 
local authorities.  
 

Recommendation 2. That the Growth Board 
asks Council leaders to ensure there is clear 
visibility of the Strategic Vision public 
engagement exercise to the elected members 
of their respective councils and guarantee 
that they would be given the opportunity to 
read and comment on the text. 
 

Yes Officers supporting the development of the Strategic Vision will engage with the 
lead communications officers in each local authority to ensure that the Draft 
Vision is given appropriate visibility to local councillors and residents. As part of 
the public engagement exercise, each local authority will have the opportunity 
to consider the draft through their own democratic processes and respond 
accordingly. The process of developing submissions on behalf of local 
authorities or groups of councillors will be a matter for local decision. Whilst the 
Board has some resource to promote and manage this work, our officers would 
welcome a collective undertaking among Board members to encourage 
engagement through their own organisations and networks. The Board would 
welcome the support from members of the Scrutiny Panel in this respect too.  
 

P
age 22



Appendix 1 
 

Recommendation 3. That the Growth Board 
asks Council Leaders to encourage their 
wider networks and the public to engage with 
the Strategic Vison engagement exercise. 

Yes  

Recommendation 4. That the Growth Board 
ensures that the public engagement exercise 
actively targets engagement with younger 
people (who are traditionally 
underrepresented in local government 
consultations) as part of a wider effort to 
ensure that views are sought across 
Oxfordshire’s demographic. 
 

Yes The Growth Board agrees that it is important to secure the input of young 
people through the Strategic Vision engagement process. We will ask officers 
to ensure there are suitable opportunities for young people to have their say 
through the engagement process, and that there are specific actions taken to 
promote responses from young people, whilst acknowledging that we want to 
secure a wide range of views across different age ranges. It is important to be 
clear that whilst the Strategic Vision runs up until 2050, partners will be working 
towards its aims from its adoption in 2021 and it will therefore impact on 
existing residents as well as future generations. 
 

Recommendation 5. That the Growth Board 
ensures the policies and plans within the final 
version of the Strategic Vision for Oxfordshire 
are not undermined by the endorsement of 
the Oxford-Cambridge Arc Economic 
Prospectus. 
 

Yes The Growth Board agrees that Oxfordshire’s collective Strategic Vision should 
not be undermined by other regional collaborations. In its submitted form, the 
Board does not believe that any elements of the Arc Prospectus undermine the 
broad principles set out in the Draft Strategic Vision. The establishment of a 
Strategic Vision for the county will help us to be clear with our partners across 
the Arc and in HM Government what it is we want to achieve.   
 

 

P
age 23



1

           
Scrutiny Task and Finish Group Suggestion Form

Please refer to the Growth Board Task and Finish Group Guide for further guidance. When 
suggesting a topic for Task and Finish review, consideration needs to be given to the 
following issues:

 To what extent an issue is within the Growth Boards remit and influence
 To what extent there is public interest in the issue
 To what extent an issue is relevant to the whole of Oxfordshire 
 What member and officer resources are available to support task and finish work (this will 

need to be discussed with the officers affected before work starts) 

Suggested Work Programme Item

To assess what options are available among the Growth Board partners to establish 
means and ways of securing private investment in public infrastructure projects, 
which return a yield for investors whilst saving the expenditure of public taxes. 
Where options are available for such schemes, to consider recommending actions 
that could be taken up through the Growth Board, where it is within remit. 

Background Information 

The need for new and revitalised capital infrastructure projects has become urgent.  
Central government budgets and local administration initiatives are restricted by the 
requirements of social care and the political will to maintain growth by reducing 
taxation to energise trade.

Looking back in time, major trends were not financed by government investment for 
example in the 19thC the British and American railway networks were paid for by 
private investment. According to some estimates, private wealth in the UK held in 
collective investments, pension funds and deposits is in the region of 16 trillion 
pounds.  These funds are characterised by an overwhelming trend away from 
utilities and infrastructure investments. They also show poor interest or yields and 
exhibit a trend towards illiquid tangible investment categories such as property. 

This capital resource is not providing the returns designed to establish savings and 
income for the owners. Furthermore, it is not generally supporting public need and 
social value of major infrastructure projects.

Harnessing this wealth that is currently resting in a lazy vacuum would create a 
virtuous triad of public benefit, private return and the liberation of central 
government funding towards a better balance between social care, health and 
essential services.

Judging purely by the results, previous initiatives have been tried with limited 
success.  Public Private initiatives were closed to public participation and have had 
scattered effect that has proved unpopular and diverted returns towards corporate 
revenues at the expense of national taxation revenues.  Direct participation by 
market equity offerings such as the Channel Tunnel have burned investor 
confidence by unrealistic goals and the lack of asset backed security. (An asset-

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



2

backed security (ABS) is an investment security—a bond or note—which is 
collateralized by a pool of assets, such as loans, leases, credit card debt, royalties, 
or receivables.)

It is time to take a new look at the methods to engage the private wealth to bring the 
virtuous trio to life.  The requirements are clearly to have a product available to all 
that is asset backed, related to and overseen by a local authority such as a county 
council project with a need for funding. These products would be be-spoke to a 
single project that includes the yield of the product at inception and would be 
governed by a tax concession that unlocks the source of funds by incentive.  
Inheritance tax exemption or taxation relief on dividends which are obvious targets 
that would excite the investment markets.

This financial product will need to be available over the counter, to be distributed by 
intermediaries, banks and the originating local authority.  Investments are sold not 
purchased.

The products could take the form of Equities, Corporate Bonds, Open Ended 
Investment Companies (OEIC), Investment trusts, wrapped into a discrete 
category. 

This will enable the Housing and Growth Deal related and other Infrastructure 
projects within the Growth Board’s remit to attracts additional source of funding 
while decreasing pressure on £218m Housing Infrastructure Fund.

The main models from London first (HS1) I have listed below. Further information is 
in links below in the evidence and information required section of this document 
under examples.

Private Sector funding
A variety of models have been used to promote private investment in infrastructure
across UK. These include:

· The regulated asset base (RAB) model, which has been used to promote
investment in sectors such water, energy network and airport industries. Investors
are typically offered stable returns, which are based on the regulators’ calculations 
of their investment’s capital value and weighted average cost of capital.

· The concession model, which is a time-limited franchise whereby a private
company enters into an agreement with the Government for the exclusive right to
operate, maintain and carry out investment for a given number of years.

· Public Private Partnerships, whereby a public sector provider procures a private
sector provider to deliver outcomes normally associated with creating or building
other assets.

Evidence and information required 
Examples of Private Sector Funding for Public Infrastructure Projects

 London first (HS1) - Infrastructure Funding and Financing Working 
Group -The role of private capital in securing London’s future 
infrastructure

https://www.londonfirst.co.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2019-

Page 25

https://www.londonfirst.co.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2019-09/InfraFinancing.pdf


3

09/InfraFinancing.pdf

 The Role of Private Investment in Transport Infrastructure

https://www.itf-oecd.org/role-private-investment-transport-
infrastructure

 Bridging the infrastructure gap: engaging the private sector in critical 
national development - Benefits, risks and key success factors

https://www.oliverwyman.com/content/dam/oliver-
wyman/v2/publications/2017/sep/Report--on-Engaging-The-Private-
Sector-In-Infrastructure-Development.PDF

1. Are there any legal limitations to this type of investment being undertaken?

2. If not, are there any recent examples of this being done locally/nationally, 
and was it successful?

3. If there are legal limitations, and in understanding those limitations, are there 
opportunities to make representations to Central Government through the 
Growth Board to remove these limitations?

4. Access to officers who have expertise or experience in this area.

Desired outcome of the review 

To have identified a way of obtaining capital funding through private wealth for 
public infrastructure projects, that are greatly needed but out of reach. For example, 
Railways, Roads, Museums, Hospitals Solar Power Generation and Flood 
Prevention Defences. Where this is not possible, the review should make the case 
for these instruments of investment to exist through the Growth Board’s lobbying 
power, where possible.  

It is expected that the Review should report its evidence base, findings and 
recommendations to the Scrutiny Panel meeting on 16 March 2021 for agreement to 
proceed to the Growth Board.  

By completing this form, you agree to Chair/Lead the Task & Finish 
Group.

Name:     Councillor Alex Postan 
Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny Panel

Date:  22/10/20

Page 26

https://www.londonfirst.co.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2019-09/InfraFinancing.pdf
https://www.londonfirst.co.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2019-09/InfraFinancing.pdf
https://www.itf-oecd.org/role-private-investment-transport-infrastructure
https://www.itf-oecd.org/role-private-investment-transport-infrastructure
https://www.itf-oecd.org/role-private-investment-transport-infrastructure
https://www.oliverwyman.com/content/dam/oliver-wyman/v2/publications/2017/sep/Report--on-Engaging-The-Private-Sector-In-Infrastructure-Development.PDF
https://www.oliverwyman.com/content/dam/oliver-wyman/v2/publications/2017/sep/Report--on-Engaging-The-Private-Sector-In-Infrastructure-Development.PDF
https://www.oliverwyman.com/content/dam/oliver-wyman/v2/publications/2017/sep/Report--on-Engaging-The-Private-Sector-In-Infrastructure-Development.PDF
https://www.oliverwyman.com/content/dam/oliver-wyman/v2/publications/2017/sep/Report--on-Engaging-The-Private-Sector-In-Infrastructure-Development.PDF


 

 

  www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org  

 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny Panel 

Task & Finish Groups Guidance – August 2020 

Task & Finish groups within the Scrutiny Panel are cross-county member led review groups 

that are commissioned by the Panel to undertake a review of a specific topic. This is a detailed 

but informal type of scrutiny and consist of a maximum of six members chosen by the Panel. 

The work carried out will be focussed, time bound and involve evidence gathering. Officers 

from the Growth Board and the wider Growth Deal teams will support councillors to help inform 

their work where time and resources permit and taking account of other ongoing work. The 

conclusion derived from the work will be first presented to Scrutiny Panel in the form 

recommendations for endorsement and subsequently to the Growth Board for decision.  

Task & Finish group meetings will be led by a Lead/Chair; the member who suggested the 

topic. The Scrutiny Officer will schedule meetings, produce agendas, minutes and reports. 

Topic Selection 

Through a topic suggestion form, members can submit ideas for Task and Finish reviews to 

the Scrutiny Panel. In considering which issues to review, members should consider: 

• To what extent an issue is within the Growth Boards remit and influence 

• To what extent there is public interest in the issue 

• To what extent an issue is relevant to the whole of Oxfordshire  

• Does the work duplicate any other ongoing reviews or pieces of work? 

• What member and officer resources are available to support task and finish work? 

(this will need to be discussed with the officers affected before work starts) 

 

Stages of a Task and Finish Review 

 

1. Scoping 

 

Scoping of a chosen topic is fundamental to the effectiveness of a Task & Finish group. 

This meeting would enable the group to identify the output and objectives of the review. It 

would also consider what evidence is needed and the timeframe. The scoping emphasises 

the need for Task & Finish group to have a clear purpose, rationale and focus for their 

work. The scoping document will be produced by the Scrutiny Officer in consultation with 

the Lead/Chair. 

 

2. Evidence Gathering 

 

Prior to the evidence gathering meeting the Scrutiny Officer will advise the group on the 

Growth Board’s approach and involvement with a given topic. They will also identify key 

officers who can attend the meeting to present and offer their perspectives on areas for 

improvement. Other sources including results from consultations and desktop research 

can also be used to gather information, for example. 

 

Page 27



3. Developing Recommendations 

 

The evidence gathered needs to be reviewed and discussed to draw reasonable 

conclusions and recommendations. The Scrutiny officer will facilitate the formulation of 

recommendations based on discussions and views expressed during course of this 

review. The recommendations should be developed under the SMART criteria. 

 

Specific           - Clarify any ambiguity in recommendations made during the meeting. 

Measurable     - Ensure the recommendations can be monitored and evaluated. 

Achievable      - Recommendations are within the scope and remit of the Growth Board. 

Realistic           - Recommendations take account of the financial / technical realities.  

Time-bound     - Milestones are set within the recommendation as to when action should 

be taken.  

 

Once approved, and following endorsement by the Scrutiny Panel, the report and 

recommendations will be put to the Growth Board and any other relevant parties for a 

written response. The Task & Finish group is formally disbanded at this stage of the 

process. 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



Growth Board Scrutiny Panel 

Oxfordshire Economic Recovery Plan
Ahmed Goga, Director of Strategy & Programmes

Tuesday 17 November

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 6



What we will cover 

COVID-19 Economic Response

• Current economic picture – headline issues 

• Insights from business and industry experts

• Emerging Economic Recovery Plan 

2

P
age 30



Economic Recovery 
Planning

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 31



Proposed Economic Recovery Plan 
• Prepared by Oxfordshire partners 

• Refreshed economic baseline including 
structural and labour market analysis 
prepared by Steer ED and Cambridge 
Econometrics

• Informed by insight sessions with business 
leaders and experts in key thematic areas

• Plan will focus on 2-3 year horizon

• Maximise take up of current COVID 19 
economic response measures

• Complement LIS Investment Plan

• Ready by January 2021

• Aligned with wider Oxfordshire Recovery 
Planning (public health / community planning 
/ resilience fora

P
age 32



• Overall, Oxfordshire economy hit less hard than wider UK 
due to underlying resilience and sectoral strengths

• Visitor economy most significantly affected
• Unemployment up but from historical low – keep eye on 

impact of closure of furlough scheme into 2021
• Variation within/across Oxon - Cherwell and City more 

impacted than other district areas
• Oxford struggling to recover footfall and city centre spend 

relative to other cities
• Expectation of short contraction and strong recovery
• Opportunity to accelerate key strengths in economy as part 

of recovery planning but will need investment in skills too

Economic Impact of COVID-19 – Preliminary Findings 

P
age 33



Claimant Count

6Data source: Oxfordshire JSNA, 28 September 2020

 Rate still below UK,  but relative increase higher

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

01/03/20 01/04/20 01/05/20 01/06/20 01/07/20 01/08/20

Claimant count – Percent of Working Age Population

Oxfordshire County Cherwell Oxford South Oxfordshire

Vale of White Horse West Oxfordshire United Kingdom UK March 2019 Average

P
age 34



Job Retention Scheme take-up

7Data Source: HMRC, Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme statistics

 All areas lower/on-par with UK average in latest data, 

but spatial variation within County . . .

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Vale of White Horse South Oxfordshire Oxford West Oxfordshire Cherwell

JRS take-up rate

Take-up rate to July Take-up rate to Aug take-up rate to Sep UK Average Sep

P
age 35



CBILS and BBLS Take Up in Oxfordshire

8
Data Source: British Business Bank 

 1 Sept: 600 CBILS and 8600 BBLS offered (worth c£400m) 

 Above UK average CBILS claims in Wantage (36% higher)

-

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

Banbury Henley Oxford East Oxford West and Abingdon Wantage Witney

P
age 36



Mobility pattern changes in Oxfordshire

9
Data Source: Google mobility report

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f 
b

as
el

in
e

-100

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

22/02/20 22/03/20 22/04/20 22/05/20 22/06/20 22/07/20 22/08/20 22/09/20

Where people are spending their time relative to pre-COVID trends 

retail and recreation grocery and pharmacy parks transit stations workplaces residential

 18th Oct: Transit stations down 34%, workplaces by 26%

 Workplace attendance & retail lower than UK average

P
age 37



City Centre Footfall

11
Data Source: Centre for Cities

R
ec

o
ve

ry
 I

n
d

ex

 Recovery below UK average . . . but above London

 Tourism-heavy cities hit harder 

 Oxford 5th worst hit for relative footfall & 6th worse spend 

– students/conferences/international visitors

P
age 38



Oxfordshire’s Visitor Economy

 £137.5m revenue lost each month since lockdown

 85% businesses with at least 50% reduction in revenue

 72% had to close altogether

 34% of businesses have lost staff – mostly to furlough

 76% at risk of closure by end October without support

 Impacts from Summer Schools, & Conference market 
collapse

12Data Source: Experience Oxfordshire

P
age 39



Preliminary results - 1

 Short term: short & sharp contraction, fast recovery. Fewer job losses (-6k 

jobs) than 2008-09 (-19k jobs)

 Long term: catch up with robust growth trajectory (as experienced past 

decade), some 'lost growth' though

13

P
age 40



Preliminary results - 2

 Much gentler employment contraction compared w. SE & UK 

– protected by favourable sectoral structure

 Similar shaped recovery, but Oxfordshire expected to 

maintain accelerated growth trajectory

14

P
age 41



Preliminary results - 3

 South & West similar to county average. Vale of White Horse most resilient 

(professional services, IT & Digital, Adv. Manufacturing)

 Cherwell & Oxford city most impacted (retail & leisure, tourism, education). Oxford 

recovers later, but has bigger rebound

15

P
age 42



Recovery by Sectors . . . 

 Some sectors see shallow drop & rapid recovery: Professional Services, 

Information & Communication, Manufacturing, & Real estate – circled in green.

 Retail, Transport, Accommodation & Food, & Arts, Entertainment & recreation are 

harder hit & with slower subsequent recovery – circled in red.

16

P
age 43



• Business: significant variation but pandemic has exposed longer term 
issues facing supply chains, property, technology investment and skills 

• Inclusive Economy: Disadvantaged places must be fixed as part of 
‘whole system recovery’ – now a vital part of economic renewal  

• Jobs & Skills: Position won't clarify until end of Furlough scheme, but 
clear that greater labour market flexibility will be crucial to recovery

• Rural Economy: Farming unscathed, tourism/events struggling but 
opportunity for rural business to reinvent themselves

• Strategic Sites: Demand for R&D space higher than ever – need to 
focus on where to encourage build-out and reimagine key hubs 

• Town Centres: Oxford hard hit; spaces need repurposing

• Green Recovery: Strong public appetite for Green Recovery, but 
business models not caught up raising usual cost/benefit conundrum  

• Visitor Economy: Significant decline of international visitors & city 
centre footfall and no staycation bounce depressing recovery potential 

Business Insight Sessions – Headline Messages

P
age 44



Building Blocks for 
Economic Recovery Plan

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 45



LIS 
Investment 

Plan 

Response 
Measures

Additional 
Interventions

Existing 
Activities  

Economic Recovery Plan - Building Blocks
Key Components
• LIS Investment Plan – activities 

which focus on labour market 
and the arts and visitor economy

• Existing Activities – projects 
which can be flexed and 
repurposed to support recovery 
eg business resilience plans and 
grants to innovate new products

• Response Measures – COVID 
specific schemes eg Town Centres 
Renaissance Programme

• Additional Interventions –
targeted proposals responding to 
economic and market intelligence

P
age 46



Oxfordshire Economic Recovery Plan 
Timeline

• Finalise baseline data

• Prepare overarching plan focusing 
on 2-3 year horizon

• Maximise take up of current 
COVID 19 economic response 
measures

• Identify specific targeted areas of 
intervention linked to economic 
baseline and market intelligence

• Ready by January 2021

P
age 47



Any Questions?

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 48



www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To: Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report: The promotion of Low/Zero Carbon Housing in Oxfordshire

Date: 24 November 2020

Report of Interim Head of Programme 

Status: Open 

Introduction and Background

1. In March 2020, the Board received a report that recommended a series of actions 
to support the scaling up of low carbon housing delivery in Oxfordshire. These 
opportunities include housing delivery through new settlements and Garden 
Towns, promoting sustainable living under the Living Oxfordshire Programme of 
the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS), the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal
and the potential for investment and policy flexibility in delivering low carbon 
housing across the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.
 

2. Whilst there is a much wider context and series of influencers in the journey to 
net-zero, including limitations presented by HM Government policy, this paper is 
principally concerned with updating the Board on progress against those 
recommendations agreed in March, related to the challenges and opportunities for 

Executive Summary and Purpose:
The purpose of this report is to update the Growth Board (the Board) on current work 
being progressed in response to recommendations endorsed by the Board in March 
2020 promoting of Low/Zero Carbon Housing. The report also offers the Board for 
information a summary of wider partnership work being undertaken in this area.
  
Recommendation: 
That the Growth Board:

1) Note the report and progress made against recommendations of the March 
2020 Zero Carbon Housing Report. 

2) Approve the submission of a draft letter to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government at Appendix 1. 

Appendices
Appendix 1: Letter to the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government
Appendix 2: Summary of Low/Zero Carbon Activity by District

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



scaling up development of net-zero carbon homes. All Oxfordshire Local 
Authorities recently agreed revised Terms of Reference for the Board, which 
feature support for the development of local planning policy that addresses the 
ambition for low carbon housing, whilst contributing towards biodiversity gain and 
embracing the changes needed for a low carbon world. In addition, each authority 
has declared a Climate Emergency and are working together, through a joint 
Climate Change Steering Group comprising energy officers, to consider where 
shared working can bring benefits in this area. 

3. There are also plans for significant housing development across Oxfordshire and 
a strong case for ensuring that this housing is built to high energy efficiency 
standards and achieves net-zero carbon as quickly as possible. But, 
although addressing the carbon efficiency of new developments is vital, 
approximately 80 per cent of the housing that will exist in Oxfordshire in 2031 
(according to Local Plans) has already been built, so addressing carbon emissions 
from existing stock is the bigger challenge. The Oxfordshire Energy Strategy 
identifies that about 4,000 current homes per annum would need to be retrofitted 
to help us meet our 2050 ambitions and highlights the need to build a clear 
roadmap to achieve this. This will require significant intervention and investment 
from HM Government to enable large scale local retrofit programmes. 

Low Carbon Housing and National Policy

4. HM Government recently consulted on their White Paper Planning for the Future. 
It aims to overhaul the planning system and reform the way homes are built. In 
reference to HM Government’s carbon ambitions the paper states: 

From 2025, we expect new homes to produce 75-80 per cent lower CO2 
emissions compared to current levels. These homes will be ‘zero carbon ready’, 
with the ability to become fully zero carbon homes over time as the electricity grid 
decarbonises, without the need for further costly retrofitting work.

5. While this is encouraging, the concept of ‘zero carbon ready’ homes and the White 
Paper’s wider ambitions are open to interpretation if they are not supported by a 
clear set of Building Standards. Equally, the Board will note the view of the Centre 
for Sustainable Energy that the importance of decarbonisation of the existing 
power grid needs to be supported by transformations in infrastructure and 
dramatic reductions in certain forms of energy use, including in terms of transport 
and spatial heating which are “key areas of influence for planning”.1 

6. Accordingly, the lack of detail within the White Paper leaves many questions 
unanswered such as how binding housing targets will be weighed against 
environmental obligations such as pollution levels, biodiversity and carbon 
reduction commitments. Similarly, there is no reference to how the proposed 
national or local design codes will address low and zero carbon infrastructure, 
including any variations within the different zones.2 

1 Our thoughts about the government’s proposed planning reforms; Centre for Sustainable Energy: 
https://www.cse.org.uk/news/view/2503 
2 Government planning reform proposals in England

Page 50

https://www.cse.org.uk/news/view/2503


7. The Planning System provides the framework and tools for delivering on local 
ambitions. Any changes to HM Government’s planning policies and design codes 
at the national level will have a significant influence on the ability of local councils 
to deliver on their commitments to create thriving, happy and healthy communities. 
Whilst the White Paper remains in consultation, it creates significant uncertainties 
that may impact on our ability to deliver against local carbon targets. 

8. A response to the Future Homes Standard consultation (which ran until 7 
February 2020) has yet to be published, but this will be instrumental in 
understanding the intended route to delivery for zero carbon homes and how it 
interacts with the planning system. A response to the Future Homes Standard 
consultation is due in the Autumn. The Board will be aware that this consultation 
proposed removing council’s ability to set higher standards locally. Whilst there 
are strong arguments for high national standards which ensure consistency and 
certainty for the industry, many authorities are concerned that if national standards 
are not ambitious enough, removing the ability to set local standards will inhibit 
local efforts to achieve carbon reduction commitments.

9. Government has not however just reflected the low carbon debate in policy 
discussions, On 28 August 2020, HM Government launched their Green Homes 
Grant initiative which allows eligible homeowners or landlords to apply for a 
voucher towards the cost of installing energy efficiency improvements, which 
could include insulating homes or installing low-carbon heating. Vouchers cover 
two-thirds of the cost, up to a maximum government contribution of £5,000, whist 
people in receipt of certain benefits may be eligible for a voucher of up to £10,000.

10. Finally, Government has recently announced a £50m Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund for Local Authorities (or Consortia led by Local Authorities). 
The award of funding to Local Authorities will be through a competition building on 
the experience of the Whole House Retrofit Programme. Applications can be 
made up until 12 November 2020 with schemes to be complete by 31 December 
2021. 

Progress Against March 2020 Recommendations 

11. The following section sets out progress that has been made against the 
recommendations agreed by the Board on 11 March 2020. 

12. Recommendation 1 and 2: Make the case to Government for clear, ambitious 
national building standards with a long-term trajectory for minimum standards 
accompanied by investment for Local Authorities and developers to move quickly 
to higher standards. Further, make the case to Government for sustained 
incentives, investment guidance and support for local retrofit programmes for 
existing homes.

13. As part of this report, the Board is asked to approve a draft letter- at Appendix 1- 
to the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, 

An initial briefing; RTPI: https://www.rtpi.org.uk/policy/2020/august/government-planning-reform-proposals-in-
england/  

Page 51

https://www.rtpi.org.uk/policy/2020/august/government-planning-reform-proposals-in-england/
https://www.rtpi.org.uk/policy/2020/august/government-planning-reform-proposals-in-england/


making the case for the actions set out in recommendations 1 and 2 above. The 
letter provides some wider context to the need for an ambitious approach to 
strengthening building regulations whilst recognising that it will take a little time for 
industry to adapt. The letter has been developed in consultation with the Growth 
Board’s Housing Advisory Sub-group and its Chair. 

14. Recommendation 3: Champion the exchange of good practice and guidance on 
sustainable and zero carbon construction to promote uptake and set local 
expectations.

15. A Webinar is under development with input from both members and relevant 
officers across partners. The event aims to raise the profile of Oxfordshire’s low-
carbon agenda both widely and, however, an event held before the end of the 
year, dependent upon the timing of the one-year Spending Review, will also 
provide an opportunity to highlight the Growth Deal programme extensions, new 
grant flexibilities and a desire to prioritise low/zero carbon scheme within the 
Affordable Housing programme (OAHP).

16. The event will aim to encourage and inspire Registered Providers (RPs) and 
developers to take advantage of these developments and submit applications 
within the extended OAHP. Officers within the Growth Deal team are engaging 
with Homes England for their input into the event which, along with developers 
and RPs, will be aimed at locality officers, councillors and other interested parties 
including local landowners and community groups. Suggestions for the agenda 
include presentations on national exemplar projects (such as the Norwich City 
Council Passivhaus development) and organisations as well as local case studies 
in policy and delivery. 
 

17. Lessons are also being learnt through the delivery of existing planned 
developments (e.g. Salt Cross Garden Village), with a ‘Living Lab’ approach, 
exploring innovative home design and use of energy, to achieve net-zero carbon 
in the development. With increasing frequency, there is evidence that innovation in 
this area continues to grow both locally and nationally. 

18. Recommendation 4: Include higher design standards as an objective of the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 at the earliest opportunity to achieve weight in the planning 
system and consider what can be done in advance to set higher expectations of 
standards.

19. Our ability and ambition to set local expectations with regards to sustainable and 
zero carbon construction will be framed in the first instance though through key 
strategic documents that guide and help to inform local development, alongside 
national and local policy. For example, the development of a non-statutory 
Strategic Vision for Oxfordshire will establish a shared set of place based 
principles that form an overarching ambition for Oxfordshire’s future – bringing 
visibility to what it is that the Local Authorities of Oxfordshire want to achieve 
together with wider partners, on behalf of residents. 

20. The Board considered  the Vision on 30 October as a draft document for 
consultation. It sets an ambition that Oxfordshire will be at the forefront of UK de-
carbonisation efforts by maximising all opportunities to significantly reduce 

Page 52



Oxfordshire's carbon footprint and build resilience. This includes an ambition that 
all new developments to be of the highest quality and design standards, with 
support given to developers embracing innovative building solutions and 
sustainable construction methods. This Vision builds on the recent change in the 
Growth Board’s purpose- enshrined in its terms of reference- which makes 
tackling climate change through sustainable development a key ambition. The 
Board will be aware that the Vision is timetabled to return to the March meeting for 
endorsement. 

21. Local Authorities can set targets for the highest quality building standards – 
whether that is through the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, or through Local Plans and 
supplementary guidance, however the scale of ambition will be subject to national 
regulations currently under review. The Board are highlighting the need for 
ambitious standards as discussed in paragraphs 12 and 13 and officers are 
exploring potential policy options, including for example enshrining in local plan 
policy targets for renewable and low carbon energy generation for strategic 
developments.

Recommendation 5: Explore opportunities to scale up low carbon technologies 
through Modern Methods of Construction (MMC) and work with Homes England 
and developers to develop a pipeline of sites for MMC.

22. Oxfordshire partners are exploring opportunities to scale up low carbon 
technologies through Modern Methods of Construction which have the potential to 
bring down the costs and scale up delivery of highly energy efficient homes. Initial 
discussions and a field visit pre-Covid-19 was held with the Building Research 
Establishment, the national centre of excellence for R&D and knowledge 
exchange in the built environment to understand what innovation in modular 
development is being introduced into the market and how it may be applied in 
Oxfordshire.

23. Homes England have been approached in relation to the Home of 2030 
professional design competition. This competition engaged with designers and 
manufacturers to invite ideas for new low carbon, age-friendly homes, meeting the 
highest standards of design. Winners will be announced towards the end of 
November and will be introduced to Homes England development framework 
partners to explore developing bids for Homes England land. There is interest in 
the shortlisted entrants, and it is hoped that one of the winners may be able to be 
part of the proposed Oxfordshire webinar promoting low carbon and MMC.

24. Recommendation 6: Support public campaigns to raise awareness of what 
households can do to reduce energy consumption in their own homes, the 
benefits of energy efficient homes and lifestyle adaptations.

25. Officers are working with the relevant communication leads across each Local 
Authority to coordinate a concerted effort to increase public awareness of ongoing 
work in this area. Specifically, this work will be carried out via social media to 
signpost residents to local and HM Government schemes that support improving 
building standards through retrofitting (e.g. the Green Homes Grant). Local 
Authorities’ will also look to highlight demonstrator examples and best practice 

Page 53

https://www.simpleenergyadvice.org.uk/


within their own areas relating to existing low/zero carbon development, some of 
which are being supported through the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal. 

26. Given that zero and low carbon homes often command a market premium (though 
there are increasingly exceptions), this work will also look to promote the value 
and benefits of owning a new low/zero carbon home, which often offsets extra 
costs in the long term, whilst delivering better environmental outcomes. Where 
possible, we will seek to link this work with the public engagement exercise for the 
draft Strategic Vision.

Oxfordshire Growth Deal and Low Carbon Developments

27. Within the first two years of the OAHP there have been several sites which are 
delivering low carbon units; including three Passivhaus wheelchair accessible 
bungalows in Cherwell, an additional 15 units with high energy efficiency and eight 
zero carbon units as part of an exemplar development in Oxford. Several other 
Oxford City developments incorporated various elements of low carbon 
technology including a scheme of 43 units with photo voltaic panels and electric 
charging points. 

28. Recent changes to the parameters of the OAHP mean that funding can now 
exceed the agreed baseline if it can demonstrate value for money and a clear 
rationale for higher funding. Low and zero carbon developments could meet such 
requirements and these flexibilities are encouraging both developers and RPs to 
bring forward innovative low carbon schemes in the final years of the programme.

29. Partners have identified 43 units within the current year three programme that will 
have some element of energy efficiency or low carbon technology included in the 
developments. Within year four this figure rises to 379 units or 50 per cent of the 
programme. 

Update from Individual Authorities

30. Individual Local Authorities continue to progress work in reference to their own 
priorities and plans. A summary of the key areas of focus and their progress so far 
is listed at Appendix 2.

Financial Implications 

31. There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.  

Legal Implications

32. There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.

Conclusion

33. This report provides a summary of the work being undertaken to address the zero 
carbon recommendations agreed by the Growth Board in March 2020, as well as 
wider work in this area. The report asks the Growth Board to note the progress 

Page 54



being made towards its recommendations, both collectively and by individual 
partner authorities, and to approve the draft letter set out at Appendix 1. 

Background Papers

34. None.

Report Authors: Megan McFarlane- Growth Deal Programme and Projects Officer 
and Stefan Robinson- Oxfordshire Growth Board Manager

Contact information: Megan.mcfarlane@oxfordshire.gov.uk

                                 Stefan.robinson@southandvale.gov.uk

Page 55

mailto:Megan.mcfarlane@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Stefan.robinson@southandvale.gov.uk


Appendix 1- DRAFT Letter to Robert Jenrick - Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government

Dear Secretary of State

Zero Carbon Building Standards 

We are writing regarding the vital need to ensure that the zero-carbon ambitions of the 
Planning White Paper translate into tangible and robust national building standards, backed by 
long term HM Government led incentives and initiatives to secure change at pace within the 
sector. 

The Oxfordshire Growth Board (the Board) recently undertook a significant review of its work 
programme in consultation with residents and stakeholders. The outcome of this review is that 
we have substantially revised our objectives to support, through enabling and collaboration, 
the development of local planning policy that meets the UK Government’s aim of net-zero 
carbon by 2050 and reflects the climate emergency declarations made both locally and 
globally.

Accordingly, the Board welcomes the broad thrust of the recent Planning White Paper and its 
ambition of planning for sustainable places (pillar two). 

The Board believes however that it is critical that government recognise the strong regulatory 
role it can play in supporting these ambitions through bold improvements to building standards 
to drive the journey to zero carbon by 2050. The Board’s view is that this is crucial as the 
scale of the challenge to deliver zero carbon by 2050 will be insurmountable without significant 
changes in the building regulations that govern local development.

In doing so, we should learn from the experience of the past ambition to require all new homes 
to be carbon neutral by 2016 which proved undeliverable because the market was not able to 
adapt at the pace required. That is why we must set out a clear, ambitious route map to zero 
carbon. Setting out such a defined route map that describes the step changes required would 
provide the market stability that enables long term investment decisions to be made and 
enables the housing market to adjust to zero carbon delivery. 

In this context we are concerned that the recent Future Homes Standard Consultation 
suggested removing local authorities’ ability to set higher standards locally. The Board is 
concerned that, if national building efficiency standards are not sufficiently ambitious to allow 
local authorities to drive the improvements in development required, the removal of the ability 
to set ambitious local standards for carbon reduction via locally agreed planning policies will 
curtail councils’ ability to achieve zero carbon by 2050. 

The Board also recognise however that building standards and /or planning policy alone will 
not make zero carbon 2050 a reality and that we will need to provide incentives that match the 
scale of our ambitions; incentives which help to overcome longstanding challenges faced by 
the development sector in addressing carbon reduction. Through the Oxfordshire Energy 
Strategy and the Oxfordshire Industrial Strategy, we are working in partnership to harness, 
leverage and scale-up low carbon initiatives to grow our low carbon economy – not just locally 
– but nationally and internationally too. In addition, working with our partners at Homes 
England, we are also using every opportunity to support decarbonisation through our 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal. Through this work we have identified the following 
challenges:

Page 56



 There is not enough support for existing supply chains to ramp up the scale of their 
operations to reorient to low carbon.

 There is both a skills gap and labour shortage for improving domestic energy efficiency.
 There is a lack of incentives for developers and buyers to switch to low carbon homes.
 The existing housing stock requires extensive retrofitting at great cost.
 Developers and property owners do not benefit from domestic energy savings which 

accrue to the occupier, so the market does not currently support a price premium on low 
carbon housing. Consequently, despite some excellent local examples, many zero-
carbon developments command a premium that is not match by demand. 

 Improving building standards can be a challenge to affordability and viability ambitions 
on developments, especially in high cost areas such as Oxfordshire.

We recognise that HM Government has existing support programmes and incentives in place 
to tackle these issues, but these must be scaled up, sustained and supported over the longer 
term to boost capacity and confidence in the sector, and to level up the existing housing stock. 
Government’s support in driving up building standards will not only help to meet our shared 
carbon ambitions, but also help to grow market demand, drive down costs, and accelerate 
enterprise and innovation.

Despite the challenges, all the Oxfordshire authorities are exploring ways and levers available 
to promote and support the improved carbon efficiency of new homes, learning from 
experience to date and opportunities provided by planned housing development to scale up 
delivery of net-zero carbon homes. For example, within the Arc the Board is playing a role in 
promoting the adoption of high-quality building standards. Similarly, within Oxfordshire and 
supported by Government funding, we have, through the Low Carbon Hub and the Cosy 
Homes Oxfordshire Project developed a supply chain of trusted providers, which are offered 
as a ‘one-stop shop’ for home retrofit services. Finally, Oxford City Council’s development 
company is working to a stretching target of 70% carbon reduction from 2013 Building 
Regulations; balancing low carbon aspirations with meeting affordable housing and available 
financing. There are also several successful low carbon demonstrator and pilot projects in 
Oxfordshire that have supplied evidence of how to overcome the challenges to mainstreaming 
this approach to development. Finally, we are addressing our zero carbon ambitions through 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 that will set the landscape for the development of our county as it 
undertakes the journey to zero carbon.

The Board can offer further insights as to how the system could improve and adapt on the 
journey to zero carbon 2050 and we want to work together with others to find solutions. We 
believe that now is the opportune moment, through the Planning White Paper, NPPF and the 
new ‘Sustainable Development Test,’ to set the framework that enables local government to 
drive forward an ambitious and systematic approach to decarbonising our homes. 

In conclusion, The Board writes in support of the ambition in the Planning White Paper to 
“facilitate ambitious improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings to help 
deliver our world-leading commitment to net-zero by 2050.” We hope you agree that this is the 
time for longer term planning and investment that will bring certainty to councils and the 
development sector to ensure we meet our shared vision for a zero-carbon future. 

Page 57



Appendix 2 - Summary of Low/Zero Carbon Activity by District

Cherwell District Council  

Policy initiatives: 
 CDC Local Plan Policy ESD1: ‘Mitigating and adapting to climate change’ 

includes designing developments to reduce carbon emissions and 
promoting the use of low carbon energy.

 CDC Local Plan Policy ESD3: ‘Sustainable Construction’: All new 
residential development will be expected to incorporate sustainable 
design and construction technology to achieve zero carbon development 
through a combination of fabric energy efficiency, carbon compliance and 
allowable solutions in line with Government policy.  

 Policy Bicester 1: NW Bicester Ecotown, zero carbon mixed-use 
development including 6,000 homes.

 Council’s adopted Housing Strategy 2019-24 and Action Plan.
Delivery of schemes:

 3 units at Bullmarsh Close, Middleton Stoney, designed and constructed 
to Passivhaus standards - Growth Deal-supported. 

 Hook Norton Community-led housing scheme - 12 homes to be built to 
Passivhaus or low carbon standards.

 Bicester Library site (3 units) – built to low-carbon standard, in Growth 
Deal programme.

 Growth Deal infrastructure funding supporting road access and 
realignment at Howes Lane (NW Bicester site) where 393 homes, a 
school and business centre are being built to zero carbon status. 

 Graven Hill design code is significantly higher than minimum standards 
and a Passivhaus builder is building out current apartments.  

Oxford City Council 

 ‘Pursue a zero carbon Oxford’ is one of the Council’s four corporate 
priorities.  

 The Local Plan 2036 requires residential new build to demonstrate a 40 
per cent carbon reduction (on existing Building Regulations, currently 
2013). 

 OCHL aims to transform the quality of new homes and new schemes 
entering the development pipeline will seek to achieve at least a 70 per 
cent carbon reduction.  

 This will take a fabric-first approach and move to all electric schemes and 
the use of PV solar panels. It will seek to ensure that the cost in-use to 
residents is affordable (‘resident protection’), landlord costs for 
maintenance and replacement are competitive and that residents enjoy 
high satisfaction levels. 

 One Growth Deal Year Two scheme is being built to zero carbon 
(regulated energy) standards using off-site construction.

 1-2 sites maximising onsite PV to trial ‘virtual microgrid’ as part of Project 
LEO with Low Carbon Hub.

Page 58



 Procurement of off-site Manufacture will scope 70 per cent carbon 
reduction, Passivhaus and zero carbon.

 The Council is working in partnership with community-led housing groups 
to bring forward new exemplar schemes to Passivhaus, or equivalent, 
standards.  

South Oxfordshire District Council

 The Council’s draft Corporate plan includes the theme “Dealing with the 
climate emergency”.

 Minimising carbon emissions is a strategic objective of the South 
Oxfordshire draft Local Plan 2011-2034.

 Draft Local Plan policy DES9 requires “All new development … should 
seek to minimise carbon and energy impacts in line with nationally 
adopted standards”.

 The council is currently considering creating a housing delivery vehicle 
which would prioritise the delivery of low and zero carbon homes.

 Officers are considering the redevelopment of a council-owned site which 
may be used to provide a number of low, or zero carbon affordable 
homes.

 Officers work with organisations involved in low and zero carbon 
housing, including partnership working with Registered Providers to 
deliver these homes as part of their delivery programme.

Vale of White Horse District Council

 The Council’s draft Corporate Plan includes “Tackling the climate 
emergency”.

 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 is underpinned by a “presumption 
in sustainable development”. Core Policy 40: Sustainable design and 
construction, sets out design measures aimed at responding to the 
impacts of climate change. The principle of zero carbon is embedded in 
the council’s Dalton Barracks strategic allocation.

 The council is currently considering the creation of a housing delivery 
vehicle which, if created, will prioritise the delivery of low and zero carbon 
homes.

 Officers work with a number of bodies and organisations involved in low 
and zero carbon housing, including partnership working with Registered 
Providers to deliver these types of homes as part of their overall delivery 
programme.

Page 59



West Oxfordshire District Council

 The Council Plan, 2020, identifies climate action as a corporate priority.
 LGA HAP funding to develop a guide/toolkit and planning policies to 

enable the design and delivery of highly energy efficient/carbon neutral 
dwellings. 

 Revised Affordable Housing SPD (in consultation) will update housing 
approach to include net-zero carbon, MMC and reducing utility bills.

 AAP for Salt Cross Garden Village (large strategic development c. 1100 
affordable homes), currently in consultation, outlines a requirement for 
net-zero carbon development.

 Small self-build and CLT-based schemes are included in the Year 4 
programme. 

 Limited WODC land for housing. However, work is in progress to bring 
forward an affordable-based scheme in a rural area using MMC on 
WODC land.

 WODC is seeking to buy land/fund its own affordable housing 
developments focusing on MMC. 

 Working with RP’s to bring forward small all-affordable LC schemes.

Partnership work

A county-wide consortium bid for £1.2m of Government funding that aims to 
help 170 households across the county make energy efficiency improvements 
to their homes. This bid was prepared on behalf of the councils by the National 
Energy Foundation, who already deliver the Oxfordshire Better Housing Better 
Health service. The government will assign £200m via this Local Authority 
Delivery competition looking for measures to support low income households in 
the least energy efficient homes (EPC rated E, F or G). 

Page 60



To: Oxfordshire Growth Board 

Title of Report: Inclusive Economy Seminars Summary Report 

Date: 24 November 2020

Report of: Economic Development Team, Oxford City Council

                                Presented by Caroline Green/Clayton Lavallin

Status:           Open

Executive Summary and Purpose: 
The Inclusive Economy Seminars Summary Report-Appendix 1, captures key 
learning, case studies, recommendations and next steps distilled from the series 
of seminars commissioned and run by Oxford Strategic Partnership (OSP) & 
OxLEP with support from Oxford City Council between October 2019 and January 
2020. 

The purpose of the report being considered is to share the summary findings and 
learning from the seminar series as well as the report’s recommendations to 
inform next steps to establish an Inclusive Economy Commission. 

Recommendations:
Building on the recommendations of Inclusive Economy Seminars Summary 
Report it is recommended that:

a) The Growth Board endorses the Summary Report and the establishment of 
an Oxfordshire Inclusive Economy Commission; and requests that

b) 1. The Growth Board’s Executive Officer Group work with the OxLEP and 
the OSP to agree how the next steps should be taken forward and
2. The Growth Board’s Executive Officer Group work with the OxLEP and 
the OSP to agree how to resource the next steps i.e. Commission going 
forward. 

A proposal from Oxford City Council’s Economic Development Team is to build on 
their ring-fenced contribution of £10, 000 and the Growth Board seeks 
contributions from partners (private and public sector) to reach a target funding of 
£100, 000 required to resource the Commission. 

Appendices:
Appendix 1: Inclusive Economy Seminars Summary Report

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



1. Introduction 

1.1.The Inclusive Economy Seminars Summary Report captures learning, case 
studies, recommendations and next steps distilled from the series of seminars 
commissioned and run by OSP & OxLEP with support from Oxford City Council 
between October 2019 and January 2020. The OSP have identified the 
establishment of the Inclusive Economy Commission as priority. The LIS has 
confirmed the commitment to creating a commission, to be taken forward in 
partnership, with broad support and engagement from a range of partners, including 
the Oxfordshire Growth Board Members where possible. 

1.2. Partners across Oxfordshire want to ensure that benefits of our local 
economy are spread more widely across the region. Evidence to date tells us that 
growth alone does not intrinsically reduce inequality so proactive interventions are 
needed. The Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) aims to build on the County’s 
world leading science and technology clusters to form the basis of a future economy 
with growth prospects of 10% per annum, creating new business sectors and 
revolutionising existing industries. This strategy sets an ambitious vision for 
Oxfordshire to be a top three global innovation ecosystem by 2040. 

1.3. As part of these ambitions the Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) 
commits to supporting an inclusive economy and establishing an Inclusive 
Economy Commission to carry the work forward. This commission will identify bold 
and ambitious interventions, which partners from the public, private and community 
sectors across Oxfordshire can support and deliver. These interventions will build on 
strategic initiatives underway such as early years education, Oxford Living Wage, 
Community Employment Plans and inclusive recruitment practices to harness the 
potential of local people. There are opportunities to build on this work by setting out 
clear ambitions to create a more cohesive society and balanced economy that 
emphasises opportunities for all as a top priority.

1.4. To pave the way for the establishment of the Oxfordshire Inclusive 
Economy Commission, a series of four seminars, initiated by Oxford City 
Council, the Oxford Strategic Partnership (OSP) and Oxfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership (OxLEP) were run to facilitate dialogue with partners to understand 
what the inclusive economy ambition should be, and begin to identify priority 
strategic interventions. 

1.5.The four Inclusive Growth seminars held focused on:
 Seminar 1: Defining the Challenge and Potential Interventions
 Seminar 2: Place-based Strategies
 Seminar 3: Economic Opportunities for All
 Seminar 4: Advancing an Inclusive Economy in Oxfordshire

Page 62



1.6. The seminars were well attended by a variety of stakeholders across 
Oxfordshire and the recommendations/actions for next steps are cited in the 
Conclusion section. 

1.7. A summary of the key learning from the seminars is included below:
 Strong, consistent support to focus on Inclusive Economy aim (rather than 

solely growth), where the ambition should be to hard-wire inclusivity into the 
economy so it delivers economic and social outcomes that benefit all of the 
community. Economic growth as an end it itself is not enough and we also need 
to think about investment decisions that support virtuous economic benefits.

 It’s critical to structure the inclusive economy within the business 
environment, financing and institutional capacity. Soft infrastructure 
including workforce skills, health, community well-being, etc.; and hard 
infrastructure including transport, housing, digital, and other physical assets will 
be relevant. 

 Words and metrics are important to define clarity of purpose and 
accountability, but with inequality widening and impacting greater parts of the 
labour market, it is essential to leverage existing assets and work at pace to 
focus on action and implementation.

 While income inequality has been an issue in Oxford and Oxfordshire for a few 
decades, the growth in inequality over the past decade has been most 
pronounced in housing prices and a lack of affordable housing for 
Oxfordshire’s workers. This has severe implications on where people live, 
transport and commuter flows, and a fresh awareness of more hidden impacts 
such as in-work poverty, the growing use of food banks, and increases in health 
inequality.

 Technological change and the shift towards a service-led knowledge economy 
is reshaping employment and hollowing out existing occupations while creating 
new types of jobs. As a result, the middle has been squeezed as growth in 
finance, technical, management and professional services have increased with 
fewer opportunities for traditional ‘skilled’ workers.

 Oxfordshire has tremendous economic assets and opportunities to 
leverage as a strong economy should allow more opportunities to be bold. Of 
many examples, the University of Oxford which is planning to develop 
‘innovation districts’ to combine their vast number of tech/science spinouts with 
residential living and provides an opportunity to effectively integrate a new 
community with existing neighbourhoods.

 A growing number of Oxfordshire local authorities, social enterprises, anchor 
institutions, charities, private companies, and landed estates (Blenheim Palace) 
are already undertaking substantive actions and policies in support of a 
more inclusive economy. 

 Bolder, meaningful, long-term collaboration among these partners 
working towards a shared vision and goals is needed to achieve 
measurable impact on key metrics such as improved educational performance, 
higher wages and more affordable housing. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 will be 
important, especially the Strategic Vision to be presented to the Growth Board 
in October. 

 Critical to the successful implementation of inclusive economy initiatives is the 
need for increased local powers and flexibilities to work at the 
local/regional level along with devolved funding from Central Government to 
test and scale-up promising programmes. New forms of finance from 
complementary sources, including community crowd sourcing, social impact 

Page 63



bonds and the private sector are vital and require innovative design, investment 
and leadership.

1.8. The Recommendations of the Report are: 

To advance Oxfordshire’s inclusive economy work agenda, OSP and OxLEP plan to 
engage in a number of action-oriented work packages in 2021. Including:

1. Working with the city, county & district council and a wide-range of 
partners to form an Inclusive Economy Commission or group to clarify 
purpose, scope and help carry work forward.

2. To establish the Commission, we will research similar efforts in other 
parts of the UK to learn how they have formed commissions or other 
groups to carry this work forward, the membership of commissions, and their 
key roles and partners. 
(This action has been completed by City Council Economic Development 
Team)

3. Supporting the initial work of the Inclusive Economy Commission and 
help engage with partners to develop more specific initiatives, pilot 
projects and policies to start implementing inclusive economy priorities.

4. Initiating a task and finish group (or similar) on local procurement 
spending and social value with anchor institutions. This is an area we would 
recommend OGB involvement. 

5. Working with partners to undertake community engagement to bring more 
voices and perspectives into this initiative.

2. Financial Implications
2.1. The main financial implications at this stage will be securing adequate 
resources time/capacity from key stakeholders to consistently coordinate a) 
establishing the Inclusive Economy Commission b) establishing and implementing its 
Task and Finish Group on Social Value and Procurement and c) Funding its initiatives.

2.2. The Economic Development Team at Oxford City Council has ring-fenced 
£10,000 as seed funding to the Commission and part of the next steps will be a call 
out to the key stakeholders including Oxfordshire Growth Board, OxLEP, OSP, Private 
and Public Sector partners and County and District Councils to match fund this amount 
in furtherance of the Commission. 

3. Legal Implications 
None at this stage. 

4. Other Implications
4.1. Risks include:

a)  The need to secure adequate resource, commitment and engagement from 
partners to implement the work of the Commission and establish the 
commission itself. 

b) Unfavourable economic context due to COVID response and recovery and the 
impacts of Transition/Brexit. 

5. Conclusion 
5.1. To conclude, it is requested that:

Page 64



a) The Growth Board endorses the Summary Report and the establishment 
of an Oxfordshire Inclusive Economy Commission; and requests that

b) The Growth Board’s Executive Officer Group work with the OxLEP/OSP 
to agree how the next steps should be taken forward and

c) The Growth Board and the Board’s Executive Officer Group and 
membership give consideration to resourcing the establishment of the 
Commission. i.e. partners invited to match fund an initial contribution of £10, 
000 put forward by the Economic Development Team at OCC x 10 minimum 
partners to reach a target funding of £100, 000 required to resource the 
Commission. 

6. Background Papers
None

7. Report Workflow and Sign off Process
7.1. Report-The anticipated timeline for the publishing of the Inclusive Economy 
Report: Oct-Nov 2020: Sign off, Approval and Publish
7.2. Commission-The anticipated timeline for the establishing of the Inclusive 
Economy Commission: From January 2021. 

Page 65



Oxfordshire Inclusive 
Economy Initiative
Summary Report Findings

Page 66



Foreword
Baroness Janet Royall, Principal of Somerville College 
Chair, Oxford Strategic Partnership
Oxfordshire has one of the strongest economies in the UK, and has grown 
strongly over the past 15 years. We are home to the world’s number one 
ranked university, a highly educated population, innovative companies and 
research institutes in leading fields such as life sciences, clean energy, and 
artificial intelligence, and we are one of the only net contributors to gross 
value added (GVA) in England.

And yet Oxfordshire, despite our economic successes and assets, has a very unequal distribution of 
income. And our recent growth has exacerbated rather than reduced inequality. The lack of 
sustainable economic opportunities and income inequality are national and global issues and this is 
very much being felt locally. Oxford is ranked as the 2nd most unequal city in the UK and housing 
affordability is a critical long-term issue along with divergent educational attainment, health outcomes 
and food poverty for too many of our residents.

The publication of this report follows a series of inclusive economy seminars that I had the 
privilege to moderate and participate in with many of the UK’s leading thinkers and doers, along 
with local experts and practitioners. When we started the seminars in October 2019, we called 
this Inclusive Growth but quickly pivoted to Inclusive Economy to emphasise that our collective 
work to reduce inequality and expand opportunities needs to be ‘hard-wired’ into the economy 
irrespective of growth trends.

As we progressed through thought-provoking and challenging discussions to understand the factors 
driving inequality, exploring place-based issues and strategies, and identifying how the private sector 
and employers can partner with public sector and non-profits to work collaboratively towards a more 
inclusive economy, three of the strongest messages we heard were that:

1. Words and metrics are important to define clarity of purpose and accountability, but it is 
essential to work at pace on action and implementation.

2. Our inclusive economy agenda of work must include a system approach that accounts 
for both soft and hard infrastructure as well as the business environment, financing and 
institutional capacity.

3. The inclusive economy initiative needs to reflect more voices from the communities of 
Oxfordshire and more engagement with the people we’re seeking to help in this work.

More recently, the COVID-19 global pandemic has resulted in personal and financial loss for many 
with staggering impacts to public health and the economy. As we embark on recovery in all aspects 
of life, one thing is certain – the importance of our agenda of work to creative a more inclusive 
economy is more important than ever. And so, we must take action. And we must move swiftly to 
start tackling the priorities identified in this report, including the creation of an Inclusive Economy 
Commission to guide and oversee this ambitious but necessary endeavour.

Published together with our core partners at the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP), 
Oxford City Council with input and support from other partners, are proud to publish this report 
reflecting the discussions and findings of our seminar series while embracing the challenges and 
opportunity to create a sustainable inclusive economy throughout Oxfordshire.

Page 67



Contents
1. Background to Inclusive Economy Initiative 4

2. Summary Notes from Inclusive
Growth Seminars 7

Seminar 1: Defining the Challenge and
Potential Interventions 7

Seminar 2: Place-based Strategies 11

Seminar 3: Economic Opportunities for All 18

Seminar 4: Advancing an Inclusive Economy
Initiative for Oxfordshire 22

3. Summary of Key Findings, Messages and
Themes to date 25

4. Potential Priority Areas for Inclusive
Economy Agenda in Oxfordshire 27

Economic impact of COVID-19 and
implications for inclusive economy 29

5. Next Steps to Advance Inclusive
Economy Initiative 31

3.Page 68



           Background to
1. Inclusive Economy 

Initiative
Oxfordshire has one of the strongest economies in the UK, and has grown by almost 
4% per annum since 2006. Yet, Oxfordshire, like the UK, has a very unequal 
distribution of income. Oxford is ranked the 2nd most unequal city in the UK and 
housing affordability is also a critical long-term issue. Some of the key areas of 
concern include:

Earnings:
A significant number of people in Oxford and Oxfordshire are earning below the 
national real living wage of £9 p/h (10.3% and 14.6% respectively). The figures are 
stark when compared by gender or part-time and full-time.

Housing:
The Housing Affordability ratio for Oxford was 17.3 in 2018, making Oxford the least 
affordable city in the UK (Centre for Cities, 2019) with average rents 57% of average 
monthly income and over 3,000 households on housing waiting lists in Oxfordshire.

Educational attainment:
22% of Oxford’s population is poorly qualified. A significant proportion of people may 
not be able to share in local prosperity gains or indeed contribute to them. This will be 
exacerbated by the changing structure of the economy and jobs created in future.

Health outcomes:
Inequality in life expectancy at birth has widened from 8.5 years in 2010/12 to 9.5 
years in 2017/18 in Oxford, demonstrating the stark differences in health and quality of 
life between lower and upper income individuals.

Food poverty:
Good Food Oxford has estimated that a typical family in Oxford needs to spend 42% 
of their income after housing costs on food and would need to earn approximately 
£16,000 (gross yearly @35 hrs a week) to be described as not being in food poverty. 
An individual paid at the national living wage (minimum wage) would only earn 
£14,250 (gross yearly @35 hrs a week).

4.
Page 69



   The Inclusive Economy Seminar Series:
Partners across Oxfordshire want to ensure that benefits of our local economy are 
spread more widely across the region. Evidence to date tells us that growth alone 
does not intrinsically reduce inequality so proactive interventions are needed. OSP 
have decided to undertake the Inclusive Economy Initiative –and when LIS 
commitment was agreed, to take the initiative forward in partnership, building on 
previous discussion with Oxfordshire Growth Board and the engagement of all 
Growth Board partners.

The Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) aims to build on the County’s world 
leading science and technology clusters to form the basis of a future economy with 
growth prospects of 10% per annum, creating new business sectors and 
revolutionise existing industries. This strategy sets an ambitious vision for 
Oxfordshire to be a top three innovation ecosystem by 2040. 

As part of these ambitions the Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) commits to 
supporting an inclusive economy and establishing an Inclusive Economy 
Commission to carry the work forward. This commission will identify bold and 
ambitious interventions, which partners from the public, private and community 
sectors across Oxfordshire can support and deliver. These interventions will build on 
strategic initiatives underway such as early years education, Oxford Living Wage, 
Community Employment Plans and inclusive recruitment practices to harness the 
potential of local people. There are opportunities to build on this work by setting out 
clear ambitions to create a more cohesive society and balanced economy that 
emphasises opportunities for all as a top priority.

This work also requires alignment across a broader regional dimension with the 
Oxford-Cambridge Arc. The Arc contributes over £117bn Gross Value Added (GVA) to 
the UK economy and the settlements between Oxford, Milton Keynes and Cambridge 
present a unique opportunity to nurture an economic asset of international standing
– shaping places that demonstrate a world-class innovation economy. Yet, there is 
also desire across the Arc to ensure the benefits of economic success are felt across 
local communities as well as UK PLC. This will require new ways of working between 
the Government, local partners and businesses, along with long-term commitments 
and a thoughtfully crafted request for devolved powers and authority to enable 
implementation of inclusive economy initiatives. This is particularly timely based on 
the expected Devolution & Local Recovery White Paper in Autumn 2020 which will 
set out how further powers and funding would be devolved across England. The 
Government has said the legislation would aim to increase economic growth, 
productivity, and devolve decision-making, which should provide Oxfordshire with 
opportunities to influence policy options.

Page 70



To pave the way for the establishment of the Oxfordshire Inclusive Economy Commission, a 
series of four seminars, initiated by Oxford City Council, the Oxford Strategic Partnership (OSP) 
and Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP) were run to facilitate dialogue with partners 
to understand what the inclusive economy ambition should be, and begin to identify priority 
strategic interventions. The four Inclusive Growth seminars held are presented herein as a set of 
findings, suggested priority areas, and ideas on the proposed next steps which have emerged in 
these sessions.

Senior stakeholders from across all sectors of the city and county were invited to 
participate in the seminars. Stakeholders included senior leaders from business 
and the private sector, Chief Executive Officers and Leaders of the Oxfordshire 
Districts, Health Service, the University of Oxford and Oxford Brookes University, 
social enterprises and charities, and researchers and practitioners in economic 
development, skills training and further education and other groups identified 
throughout the process.

6.

Page 71



Summary Notes
2. from Inclusive Growth 

Seminars
This section presents a summary of notes from the presentations and discussion at 
each of the four (4) Inclusive Growth seminars.

Seminar 1: Defining the Challenge 
and Potential Interventions
HELD ON: Wednesday, 16th October 2019 at Somerville College, 
University of Oxford

SPEAKERS AND PANELISTS:
• Ed Cox, Royal Society of Arts (the RSA)
• Dr. Mark Fransham, London School of Economics
• Professor Brian Nolan, Oxford Martin School, University of Oxford
• Will Hutton, Principal of Hertford College, University of Oxford

Summary Notes from 
Presentations and Discussion
The first Inclusive Growth seminar focused on the research, policy and data on 
economic and social inequality to define the real scale of the challenge nationally 
and locally. The seminar also started the discussion on potential interventions to be 
developed through the seminar series and beyond.

Whole-System Change for Inclusive Growth (Ed Cox RSA)

Social Social Business Finance Institutional
infrastructure infrastructure Environment Public spending Capacity
Education and Skills Housing Business support Agile investment Governance
Health Transport Innovation Fiscal devolution Scale
Employment Digital R&D Devolution
support / welfare Energy

Inter-agency / cross - sector integration

C
entral-R

egional- Local Integration

7.
Page 72



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

KEY PRESENTATION POINTS AND DISCUSSION COMMENTS INCLUDED:
There are three key aspects to inclusive growth: 1) people and places; 2) who 
contributes and who benefits; and 3) opportunities and outcomes.

Social (or soft) infrastructure such as education, skills, health and well-being is 
as important if not more so than physical (or hard) infrastructure like transport, 
telecommunications, and housing.

It’s relatively easy to adopt language in support of inclusive growth but more 
challenging to convert that into action. But there are examples of action from the UK 
and beyond that the RSA and others are highlighting as best practices that others (like 
Oxfordshire) can follow.

Working towards a more inclusive economy requires a change in mind-set in many 
ways related to quality of economic opportunities, what we measure, involving 
communities in decision-making, etc. 

There are lots of inclusive growth measurement indicators – the key is to not use 
a single index indicator (which can seem abstract) but rather focus on a small 
combination of metrics that matter to the community.

Income distribution trends over the past 20-30 years have shown that the lower and 
middle income workers are not doing well economically, with fewer job opportunities for 
lower and middle-skilled workers.

Drivers of wage inequality include the very high wage gains and rates of the finance 
sector (compared to other sectors) as well as a broader global decline in competition 
within sectors, especially technology, which allows large firms to moderate pay gains.

Strategic Mindset for Inclusive Growth (Ed Cox, RSA)

From To Type of Systemic Intervention

Economic and social impacts of Economic and social impacts are
Policy integrationpolicy are considered separately considered together

Emphasis on the quantity of growth
Emphasis on the quality of growth

(number of jobs, dollar amount of (e.g. growth distribution, job, quality) Quality jobs
investment)

Equitable investment in peoplePhysical investment in communities
and places as a combined means to Equitable infrastructuredistributed in an inequitable manner inclusive growth

Public, private and philanthropic Public, private and philanthropic
resources distributed in a resources distributed in a Co-ordinated, long-term
widespread, scattershot, one-time concentrated, coordinated and investment
fashion sustained fashion

Top-down, non-participatory Inclusive policy setting that
decision-making on policies leverages the talents, voice and Shared decision making
impacting communities experience of local residents

Wealth building opportunities Wealth building opportunities for
Widespread financial securityrestricted to top income earners Those on low income or BAME

8.
Page 73



Population Growth in Oxford 1801-2021 (Mark Fransham, LSE)

180,000 15,000

160,000
3,000

140,000
10,000

120,000

100,000 5,000 per
80,000 decade

60,000

40,000

20,000

0

18
01

18
11

18
21

18
31

18
41

18
51

18
61

18
71

18
81

18
91

19
01

19
11

19
21

19
31

19
41

19
51

19
61

19
71

19
81

19
91

20
01

20
11

20 21

Oxford is a historically divided city with 1) the universities and 2) the Mini auto manufacturing plant 
illustrating this economic, physical and cultural divide. In 2018, Oxford contributed 6.75bn to the 
national economy and with currently around 122,300 jobs in city of Oxford, 14% more than in 2013 
this growth rate is stronger than the national level of 10%. Despite this 11 areas in Oxford are in the 
most deprived decile nationally on Indices of Multiple Deprivation.  Life expectancy for Oxford 
residents is above average at 81 years for men and 85 years for women however this can vary by 
up to 10 years for women and 15 for men depending on where in Oxford you live. 

These growth pressures, with wages at the lower and middle levels rising slowly, have resulted in a 
staggering housing affordability gap for the city of Oxford that has extended throughout Oxfordshire 
with longer transport commutes one of the results (though longer commutes are due to many 
factors). Oxford’s housing affordability ratio is now the worst in the UK, with average house prices 
17 times the average salary

There is also an educational divide within Oxford with some areas of the city and county performing 
below average on educational attainment, despite Oxford’s international brand as a centre for 
learning. Educational attainment in state schools in Oxford is below the average for England and 
latest figures show the average attainment 8 (equivalent to GCSE level) score per pupil in Oxford is 
45.9 which is below the national and Oxfordshire averages of 46.9 and 47.7 respectively.

There are many positive assets and initiatives in Oxfordshire underway to support a 
more inclusive economy, including a growing number of successful social enterprises, 
living wage employers and skills-training opportunities. Oxford has the chance to be a 
laboratory to incubate socially-minded firms and social enterprises.

Opportunities to cultivate and encourage ‘inclusive firms’ dedicated to social 
betterment, including local procurement spending practices, inclusive recruitment 
and other public benefits. To address key challenges like housing affordability, can 
Oxfordshire pilot innovative and bold programs such as permanently designating 
some housing at discounted prices through housing associations and other 
institutional property owners?

Page 74



An Inclusive Economy of Inclusive Stakeholder Firms?

Will Hutton, Principal of Hertford College, University of Oxford and renowned 
academic, journalist and author of among many influential works ‘The Stakeholding 
Society’ outlined in his presentation a unique opportunity for Oxfordshire:

The University of Oxford could play an integral role as an Anchor Institution in 
partnering with the Public Sector (especially Police, NHS and Emergency services) 
and Local Authority (Oxfordshire County and City Councils) to use its procurement 
leverage to make a requirement of its contractors to commit to public benefit and 
provide the mechanisms and framework to deliver it. This would generate significant 
social value as well as model practical applications of an inclusive economy. 

This would build on and further the Community Employment Planning initiatives 
already underway in the city.  

Forthcoming University of Oxford and Local Authority partnership developments in 
the pipeline that would be particularly suitable to adopt this approach include:

 Oxford North
 Oxford Station Redevelopment
 West End Development (Oxpens, Osney Mead and Island Site)

The University of Oxford could in addition require its spin-outs to incorporate around 
an agreed declaration of purpose to incorporate this approach. The network of 
Inclusive firms generated and scaled up in this way would all be committed to this 
purpose and therefore deliver long-term social betterment and value for the city and 
Oxfordshire as a Social Enterprise county. 

Page 75



Discussion Questions
1. Who is the inclusive growth for? It should mean improved outcomes and 

opportunities for all – young and old, rich and poor, etc.

2. What can be done about lower wage jobs? More wide-spread adoption of living 
wages is a start, along with improved education and targeted job skills training, and 
keeping more of local procurement spending local. This could contribute to the 
economic sustainability of local service businesses who are more likely to employ 
local residents. In this way, a small change for larger organisations could have a 
significant positive local impact.

3. How can the universities (which are fundamentally a non-profit ‘charity’) be more 
engaged in inclusive growth with the City?

4. Can an inclusive growth program be used partly to help highlight, promote and scale-
up the positive work already being done in Oxfordshire?

5. Are there effective ways to measure ‘well-being’ for inclusive growth?

6. There is a fundamental need to add more housing (consistent with the Housing plans 
contained within the Local Plans of Local Authorities).

7. Individual businesses often lack the ability to engage with the community (charity 
work) or to hire apprentices – can these kinds of efforts be pooled together for 
stronger collective action? ‘Team Oxford’ being launched by Aspire is one option 
here.

Oxford Residents in Employment by 
Industry, 1841-2011, (Mark Fransham, LSE)

Oxford Residents in Work by Type of 
Occupation 1841-2001, (Mark Fransham LSE)

R
es

id
en

ts
 w

or
ki

ng
 in

 e
ac

h 
in

du
st

ry
 (n

ot
 to

ta
l o

f b
ot

h) 60,000 100%
Unskilled

90%
50,000 80% Partially skilled

70%
40,000

60%

30,000 50%
Skilled

40%
Services

20,000 30%

20%
10,000

10% Managerial & technical
Manufacturing Professional0%0

18
41

18
51

18
61

18
71

18
81

18
91

19
01

19
11

19
21

19
31

19
41

19
51 19

6
1 19
71

19
81

19
91

20
01

20
11

18
41

18
51

18
61

18
71

18
81 18
9

1 19
01

19
11

19
21

19
31

19
41

19
51

19
61

19
71

19
81

19
91

20
01

10. Page 76



Seminar 2: Place-based Strategies
HELD ON: Monday, 28th October 2019 at Kellogg College, 
University of Oxford

SPEAKERS AND PANELISTS:
• Bev Hindle, Director of Oxfordshire Growth Board
• Gareth Hart, Chair of Plymouth Inclusive Growth Group

• Jayne Woodley, CEO of Oxfordshire Community Foundation

• Neil McInroy, Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES)

Summary Notes from 
Presentations and Discussion
Economic inequalities and deprivation are often concentrated in specific areas of 
cities and towns, or affect places in specific ways. The solutions to the inequality 
challenge can also lie within these places strengths and opportunities. This seminar 
focused on lessons learned from cities and organisations that are taking the initiative 
to lead public-private place based strategies and investments.

Housing Affordability (Bev Hindle, Oxfordshire Growth Board)

Affordability is not just city vs. county
Housing affordability (map)

 3.4 -5.1
 5.2 - 6.0
 6.1 - 6.5
 6.6 - 7.0
 7.1 - 13.3     

 Country towns

MAP: Housing affordability
(ration of house prices to income)

Source: District Data Service analysis

Oxfordshire’s county towns 
are circled blue.
• These are more 

affordable than their 
rural hinterlands, largely 
due to the housing mix 
available.

• Areas coloured red are 
less affordable than the 
Oxford average.

• Many rural areas are as 
unaffordable as Oxford

11.Page 77



The Oxfordshire Growth Deal (Bev Hindle, Oxfordshire Growth Board)

Using growth to support healthy living
and address health inequalities

TheAffordable
Oxfordshire Infrastructure ProductivityHomes Plan 2050

Healthy Place Shaping

•

•

•

•

•

KEY PRESENTATION POINTS AND 
DISCUSSION COMMENTS INCLUDED:
The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and Housing Infrastructure Fund 
represent a £500m plus investment in infrastructure and housing to support 
economic growth. More investment will follow. If unguided and unchecked, 
economic growth can worsen inequality. The opportunity is that if growth is guided 
through the work of the Inclusive Economy Commission, it could be the catalyst to 
reduce inequality, promote wealth sharing and invest in people and communities.

A fundamental understanding of Oxfordshire and the aspirations of local people is 
needed (listening beyond the louder voices). This is the only way to address the 
inequality being experienced and make the most of our many local assets. We need 
to listen especially to younger people and those excluded from the growth debate, 
considering social and environmental issues as well as economic. The Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050 provides an opportunity to state our inclusivity aspirations clearly.

We can address health inequalities through a scaled up ‘healthy place shaping’ 
approach, learning from programmes alongside housing development at Barton Park 
and Bicester.

When we consider infrastructure investments, we need to consider the social and 
community impacts up front. For example, how might Cowley Branch Line impact 
existing residents of Blackbird Leys? Will it benefit local people or displace 
communities and how do we influence the best outcomes?

Affordability of homes and the challenges of desirable location are prevailing factors 
county-wide. Neighbourhood deprivation is not solely an Oxford issue. Banbury and 
other areas within affluent Oxfordshire also have significant challenges.

                                                                                                           
Page 78



Plymouth’s Definition of Inclusive Growth, Objectives and 
Lessons Learned (Gareth Hart)

PLYMOUTH’S DEFINITION OF
‘INCLUSIVE GROWTH’

‘Growing prosperity
that reduces inequality

and is sustainable’

OBJECTIVES

01 02 03
Integrate Inclusive Ensure recruitment, Embed Inclusive
Growth in policy retention and Growth in
of businesses and development of all procurement and
organisations across sections of society commissioning across
the city the city

LESSONS LEARNED

• Needs to be a strategic priority not an afterthought
• Clarity of purpose

• Political engagement (control vs laissez faire)

• Business engagement

• Language and concepts matter deeply

• It takes time and it is a journey

• We are part of the Oxford to Cambridge Arc ‘a posterchild for Economic Growth’, 
expected to grow to £180Bn GVA. Yet, it is possible for the area to decline or 
underperform. If it does, inequality will be a key cause of any underperformance. 
Productivity growth requires all sections of the available workforce to contribute. 
There are encouraging words from Arc policy makers but action is now required.

• Other places have a head start on Oxfordshire in terms of concerted action and place-
wide partnership. Plymouth is one example having clearly defined the aim; ‘growing 
prosperity that reduces inequality and is sustainable’ and a set of objectives. They have 
also agreed key performance metrics such as income inequality and work based 
poverty. Partners are now working together on inclusive economy initiatives that have 
cross-sector leadership. Although the Plymouth context is different to that of Oxford, 
there is scope for shared and transferable learning from the model. 

• The legacy of Austerity and the resulting reductions in public spending over the 
last decade are part of the inequality issue we face and we need to secure greater 
investment through whatever means will work. New long-term funding and 
investment models will be a key enabler alongside how we spend our money. See 
Bristol City Funds for example, case studied below.

                                                 Bristol City Funds is a £10 million investment fund set up 

Page 79



to target the causes and effects of inequality in the city to help build Bristol as a city that works for 
everyone. The fund aims to reduce the barriers which create inequality    
    and poverty, to create a sustainable city where people thrive and are proud to call it home.

The Bristol City Funds enable partners to work together, bringing local businesses, communities, 
funders and the public sector round the same table, to share resources, expertise and pool 
knowledge. Through City Funds partners can raise money locally and attract national finance, 
earmarking new money for Bristol to help the city to address its key priorities.

The City Funds aim to see positive change that transforms the lives of individuals and communities, 
and to build an environmentally sustainable city. The initiative allows the value of every pound 
invested in the city to be amplified, through strategic, cooperative partnerships addressing the root 
causes of inequality and poverty.

For more information see: https://www.bristolcityfunds.co.uk/ info@bristolcityfunds.co.uk

13.
Page 80

https://www.bristolcityfunds.co.uk/


•

•

The success of local initiatives must also be about long-term impact and strategy and 
not reliance on attracting time-limited grants. We must consider how to incubate and 
scale up the initiatives that make a difference with partners.

We should not forget we already have great local initiatives underway including the 
Oxfordshire Homeless Movement, Makespace Oxford (meanwhile property use), and 
Age Friendly Banbury. Partners should work together to incubate and then scale up 
what works well. An example proposed was ‘Growing Young Minds’ a new Oxfordshire 
Community Fund initiative aimed at investing in early years education in family homes 
to avoid the attainment gap that creates disadvantage for many young learners. 
Considering the low educational attainment in some Oxford schools could this work be 
expanded to more areas of need? There is demonstrable economic rationale behind 
such investments that is being missed.

Inclusive Economy: Everyone Benefits (Jayne Woodley, OCF)

Dynamism and Inclusion andProsperity opportunity equality

Health, wellbeing Resilience and Community, trust
and happiness sustainability and belonging

•

•

•

We have a global wealth issue in terms of its distribution as the ten richest men have 
the same wealth as 50% of the rest of the world. There is a clear disconnect between 
growth and poverty. The economy is a social construct and one we can change over 
time. Why are public services seen as a cost to the economy rather than an 
investment? Many commentators from across the political spectrum are signalling the 
need for a new economic paradigm. This will require a cultural shift over time.

A range of cities and regions in the UK are taking forward a community wealth 
building approach. Oxfordshire has the economic strength and assets to make a real 
success of such an approach. The question is how ambitious we wish to be and how 
many anchor organisations we can get behind the agenda. Which of the principles of 
wealth building will we employ locally?

What is an inclusive economy? It should be conceived in terms of the economy as a 
whole rather than growth. It is one where inclusivity is hard-wired in and not an add-on. 
For example, North Ayrshire is spending all of its £250m Growth Deal through the lens 
of community wealth building.

14.
Page 81



Trends in National Educational Attainment and 
Disadvantage (Jayne Woodley, OCF)

D
is

ad
va

nt
ag

ed

Secondary School 
19.3 Months

Primary Year 6 
(KS2) 9.5 Months

Primary Year 6 
(KS1) 5.4 Months

Early Years
4.3 Months

N
on-D

isadvantaged

-30 -15 0 15 30
Months behind Average Months ahead
average of average

‘Closing the Gap?’ Trends in educational attainment and disadvantage’,
Education Policy Institute (July 2017)

The Power of Agency, Anchor Institutions (Neil McInroy, CLES)

Housing Police Private
Providers Businesses

Education Local Hospitals
Providers government

15.Page 82



Discussion Questions:
1. We must focus on the inclusivity of the economy as a whole, whether it is set to grow, 

remain static or decline.

2. There is a call from the audience for a concerted effort to bring partners together on 
this agenda.

3. There was a consistent call to ensure that all communities have a say in economic and 
growth issues.

4. We should consider prioritising inward investment that generates wealth locally over 
that which extracts local wealth. Alongside social value from our collective spend, 
should we also be more ambitious in pursuing new company ownership models such 
as worker owned co-ops?

5. It should be noted that most spin-outs first have a social aim, and second have an aim 
to be commercially sensible. We need to realise and work with that. It’s not all about 
profit for most spin-outs; it’s about change and disruption to solve major issues. Our
Industrial Strategy embeds this concept and shows we can attract the right type of 
investment.

6. We should however consider how we ensure our new ‘innovation districts’ are 
planned county-wide, and are inclusive rather than enclaves

7. Key workers, travelling from ever greater distances harms productivity and the lives 
of workers making long-commutes. Consider this in housing and transport policy.

8. Are we in danger of having too many pledges that ultimately become time consuming 
and less impactful? Should we focus on the instruments we already have instead?

9. We should absolutely build on the good work already happening but within a 
partnership framework with broadly agreed ambition and objectives. Then we can 
ensure greater impact over the long-term. This requires ongoing commitment from 
those involved.

16. Page 83



Community Wealth Building – Five Principles (Neil McInroy, CLES)

Fair employment and 
just labour markets
Anchor institutions have a 
defining impact on the 
prospects of local people. 
Recruitment from lower 
incomes areas, paying the 
living wage and building 
progression routes all 
improve local economies.

Progressive procurement 
of goods and services
Developing dense local 
supply chains of 
businesses likely to 
support local employment 
and retain wealth locally: 
SMEs; employee-owned 
businesses; social 
enterprises, cooperatives 
and community business.

Plural ownership of the 
economy
Developing and growing 
small enterprises, 
community organisations, 
cooperatives and 
municipal ownership is 
important because they 
are more financially 
generative for the local 
economy – locking wealth 
in place.

Socially just use of 
land and property
Deepening the function 
and ownership of local 
assets held by anchor 
institutions, so that 
financial and social gain is 
harnessed by citizens. 
Develop and extend 
community use – public 
sector land and facilities 
as part of “the commons”.

Making financial power 
work for local places
Increase flows of 
investment within local 
economies by harnessing 
and recirculating the 
wealth that exists, as 
opposed to attracting 
capital. This includes 
redirecting local authority 
pension funds, supporting 
mutually owned banks.

How Progressive Do You Want To Be? (Neil McInroy, CLES)

Land and Local Ownership Anchor
Spend Employment Property Finance of the approach

Economy

Preston Started Started

Islington

Wirral

Manchester

Gateshead

Oldham

17.Page 84



Seminar 3: Economic 
Opportunities for All
HELD ON: Wednesday, 20th November 2019 at Oxford City College, Blackbird Leys

SPEAKERS AND PANELISTS:
• Trevor Phillips, Co-Founder of Webber-Phillips
• Dominic Hare, CEO of Blenheim Palace

• Penny Rinta-Suksi, Partner at Blake Morgan LLP

• Paul Roberts, CEO Aspire Oxfordshire

• Sally Dicketts, CEO Activate Learning

Summary Notes from Presentations 
and Discussion
This seminar focused on the themes of workforce skills and training, employer 
engagement and initiatives, and the role the business sector can play to expand 
economic opportunities to all. The presentations and panel discussion covered how 
businesses can have a positive impact on their communities, such as local 
procurement spending policies and inclusive recruitment, as well as opportunities 
around skills, training and education that can reduce inequality in Oxfordshire.

KEY PRESENTATION POINTS AND DISCUSSION POINTS:
Educational attainment, parity of esteem for technical education, and low take up of 
apprenticeships are all significant issues. Coupled with the ongoing transformation in 
the world of work, the direction of which is ‘unknowable’, we need to ensure that local 
people are not left with ‘their noses pressed against a glass dome, looking in to our 
knowledge economy but with no prospect of participating in or benefitting from the 
prosperity created’. 

18. Page 85



Major trends and challenges we face include:
• Digital transformation and what it means for employment

• Demographics (age & global middle-east and Africa fastest growing 
populations) – ‘do we need to do much about skills locally when we can 
get them overseas?’
• Harnessing the potential of diversity of our workforce

• Technology-specific skills will quickly become relevant and then redundant. So we 
also have to focus on fundamental skills and adaptability with even closer working 
between education and business. Skills that will matter regardless include 
independent critical thinking, resilience and confidence, advanced social skills (team 
working, negotiation), and raising educational attainment.

• The ability to access training budgets at various career stages is important. Devolution 
of control over local budgets for further education to enable this should allow improved 
local ability for training providers and partners to adapt to shifting employer training 
needs. It was also highlighted that there has been a fall of 40% in employer investment 
in skills in recent years. Training should be viewed by employers as an investment and 
not a cost.

• Autonomy of workers matters in the evolving world of work, so we should give 
people more responsibility to change things as people are happier in work if given 
power to help shape their work.

Delivering Our Purpose (Dominic Hare, Blenheim Palace)

1. Triple our economic contribution to the local economy

2. Train over 100 apprentices in 10 years plus training goal for 
developing own staff

3. House 300 families in truly affordable homes

4. Receive 750k paying visitors with a top quartile satisfaction rating

5. Become a net generator of green energy

6. Be rated as a top 100 best employer

7. Have transformed the Palace and Park by completing a £40m 
restoration programme

8. Have reacquired key works from the old collections and established a 
new one

9. Create an additional endowment portfolio of £45m dedicated to the 
conservation and enhancement of our World Heritage Site,

10. Double our charitable contribution to the community

19.Page 86



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Roles have to be financially sustainable – for living wage policies; employers cannot 
justify pay if the work is not worth the living wage. We might focus on the value of 
jobs and ensuring that new jobs are designed to achieve higher pay, for example 
where business support is provided.

Landed estates and institutions (public, private or charitable) have particular power 
and opportunity to make a difference through their assets. In the long-term, their own 
fortunes are linked to those of the local economy and the population based around 
them.

Blenheim Palace has provided local best practice here through strategic initiatives 
that help fulfil their stated purpose of being the lifeblood of the local economy. These 
cover housing, tourism, educational partnerships and enterprise among others. The 
social impact of these initiatives is being measured in a focused and sophisticated 
way (e.g. community well-being scores). If more landed estates follow suit, the 
impact will likely be transformative.

Organisations should be encouraged to understand and measure the costs as well 
as the benefits of their activity to make a measurable difference. Consumers and 
employees are demanding more and organisations of all types will need to adapt to 
this societal change. In line with this, we need an ecosystem where social enterprise 
and social aims in business are normalised. We need to get to a place of purposeful, 
collaborative businesses.

We should ask ourselves as organisations – how we are recruiting, (hiring, inspiring 
and developing), how fairly are we paying people, and how are we investing wealth? 
Ultimately, what social purpose do organisations have and what value are we 
generating alongside commercial success?

We should urgently consider how we can pool the apprenticeship levy among partners 
more effectively. Otherwise we have a missed opportunity. What other skills funding 
opportunities are we missing?

How do we support environmental sustainability and decarbonisation for those on 
low incomes? There are ways to decarbonise at pace and boost local skills to in the 
process (e.g. property retrofit schemes).

Genuinely affordable housing in sufficient numbers is a key priority for all employers. 
They need talented young workers who can afford to live here. How do employers play 
a role in solving this issue?

20.
Page 87



•

•

•

•

•

•

There was a broad agreement we need to engage with young learners and a broader 
section of the community on their aspirations and to communicate the specific 
economic opportunities that can be accessed. Broad awareness raising and boosting 
aspirations of people otherwise disengaged. Getting the messaging right is vital.

Mental health of learners and workforce health issues can have a major economic 
impact and boost inclusion if tacked coherently.

Concerted and joined-up actions from employers and educators, engaging with 
communities is already in evidence. We need to do it more consistently as truly 
meaningful collaboration and with shared aims. Employers are engaging well in many 
cases.

Use Design thinking process to get different people with the right expertise to 
create future curriculums.

Broad buy-in to achieve social value through spend is possible. Can we collectively 
think about how we open up opportunities on the demand-side and boost supply 
chain capability? If a group of willing anchor institutions and employers lead by being 
transparent with their local spend and social value of procurement, others will follow.

Finally, it was highlighted that efforts will fail unless we have cross sector leadership 
with clear aims and ambition, and influence that can gain buy-in from a range of 
quarters.

21.Page 88



Seminar 4: Advancing an Inclusive 
Economy in Oxfordshire
HELD ON: Wednesday, 29th January 2020 at Oxford Town Hall

CHAIR AND SPEAKERS TO GUIDE BREAKOUT GROUPS:
• Baroness Janet Royall, Principal Somerville College
• Ahmed Goga, Director of Strategy at OxLEP

• Gordon Mitchell, Chief Executive Oxford City Council

                     The focus of the fourth Inclusive Growth seminar was work conducted by attendees 
                     on five breakout group topics aimed at helping develop ideas for how we can

 implement an inclusive economy initiative in Oxfordshire:

1) Ambition, goals, and key performance metrics

2) Near-term actions to implement now

3) Long-term strategic priorities

4) Establishing an Inclusive Economy Commission

5) Funding and investing to support an inclusive economy

The highly engaging group discussions with active participation across all 
sectors was indicative of the interest and passion that Oxfordshire leaders have 
to see inclusive economy concepts turn into action. A brief summary of 
highlights and recommendations from the report back on group work included 
the following ideas and directions:

• When setting out the ambitions and goals for this work, it’s important to have 
broader community input, and some of the next steps should include surveys and 
other mechanisms to hear from a larger number of Oxfordshire residents.

•

•

Key performance metrics should cover both: a) economic and income-related 
measures; and b) social well-being and health.

It was recommended that the ambition of this work can be summed up in a few 
concise statements that everyone in Oxfordshire can say, and that it includes a truly 
collaborative set of public, private, university and non-profit partners.

• There was strong agreement that a top priority for near-term implementation should be 
procurement that emphasises: 1) participation from multiple anchor institutions 
throughout Oxfordshire; 2) increasing the share of spend that is captured locally; and
3) enhancing the social value contributions and benefits through procurement.

• It was recommended that a task force (‘coalition of the willing’) be set up to initiate 
this work with more partners joining over time. There are strong precedents on 
developing social value policies from other places (and Oxford City Council is 
currently working on a new policy), along with great ideas already underway with 
social enterprises, proposed ‘meet the buyer’ events, etc.

22. Page 89



•

•

•

•

•

•

Attendees recommended that Oxfordshire adopt a mantra that we should set up lots of 
pilot projects to find innovative solutions, and that it’s okay to ‘fail’ as long as we can 
learn from it, fail cheaply, and then move on to the next good idea.

Another near-term recommendation was to find ways for anchor institutions to 
generate more social value from their land holdings (e.g. community centres, lower-
cost workspaces).

Education and skills training are clearly the highest priority long-term strategic issue 
identified through this work with substantive discussion around early education, 
tracking educational performance, growing the number of apprenticeships, adult 
education and employer-driven skills training, etc.

While numerous organisations are engaged in promising education and skills training 
initiatives for Oxfordshire, this needs to be a joined-up, long-term campaign.

Oxfordshire’s near and long-term housebuilding agenda provides opportunity for 
innovative partnerships, developing a workforce to support this sector, sourcing 
construction materials locally, and bringing communities together.

There needs to be an ongoing inclusive economy body to carry this work forward over 
time rather than just creating a short-term temporary commission.

23.Page 90



•

•

•

•

•

•

The agenda of work needs to reflect more voices from the communities of 
Oxfordshire and the people we’re seeking to help in this work.

There are near-term actions that should be advanced, and an inclusive economy 
commission can help determine which projects can be implemented now, which 
partners are needed to deliver positive change, and which project opportunities need 
more evidence or learning to determine next steps.

It’s important for the commission to include some senior leaders of organisations and 
anchor institutions that maintain large budgets that can contribute towards this work 
and influence policy and investment.

The most effective size for the commission needs to be carefully considered so 
that it doesn’t become too large, but that it can still reflect multiple sectors and 
communities throughout Oxfordshire.

Experiences from other cities / regions that are implementing inclusive economy 
strategies tells us that we need to identify and generate dedicated resources and 
staffing to be successful. For example, other places are funding staff and/or 
consultants above £100,000 per year.

There are multiple opportunities for inclusive economy funding from private, public 
and university sectors within Oxfordshire, and other places have demonstrated how 
we can start considering the social return on investment. This can be done through 
innovative partnerships around pensions, social impact bonds, cooperatives, etc. but 
more work is needed to scope this out and it will need to be tightly connected to our 
overall ambitions and key priorities, and guided by the Commission.

24.
Page 91



3. Summary of Key Findings, 
Messages & Themes 

Summing up the findings, messages and key themes presented and discussed at the 
seminars to date reveals a number of ideas that should be carried forward as part of
an Oxfordshire Inclusive Economy initiative:

• Strong, consistent support to focus on Inclusive Economy aim (rather than solely 
growth), where the ambition should be to hard-wire inclusivity into the economy so it 
delivers economic and social outcomes that benefit all of the community. Economic 
growth as an end it itself is not enough and we also need to think about investment 
decisions that support virtuous economic benefits.

• It’s critical to structure the inclusive economy within a system approach that 
accounts for both soft and hard infrastructure as well as business environment, 
financing and institutional capacity. Soft infrastructure includes workforce skills, 
health, community well-being, etc.; and hard infrastructure includes transport, 
housing, digital, and other physical assets.

•

•

•

•

Words and metrics are important to define clarity of purpose and accountability, 
but with inequality widening and impacting greater parts of the labour market, it is 
essential to leverage existing assets and work at pace to focus on action and 
implementation.

While income inequality has been an issue in Oxford and Oxfordshire for a few 
decades, the growth in inequality over the past decade has been most pronounced in 
housing prices and a lack of affordable housing for Oxfordshire’s workers which 
has severe implications on where people live, transport and commuter flows, and a 
fresh awareness of more hidden impacts such as in-work poverty, the growing use of 
food banks, and increases in health inequality.

Technological change and the shift towards a service-led knowledge economy is 
reshaping employment and hollowing out existing occupations while creating new 
types of jobs. As a result, the middle has been squeezed as growth in finance, 
technical, management and professional services have increased with fewer 
opportunities for traditional ‘skilled’ workers.

Oxfordshire has tremendous economic assets and opportunities to leverage as a 
strong economy should allow more opportunities to be bold. Of many examples, the 
University of Oxford which is planning to develop ‘innovation districts’ to combine their 
vast number of tech/science spinouts with residential living and provides an 
opportunity to effectively integrate a new community with existing neighbourhoods.

25.
Page 92



•

•

A growing number of Oxfordshire local authorities, social enterprises, anchor 
institutions, charities, private companies, and landed estates (Blenheim Palace) are 
already undertaking substantive actions and policies in support of a more inclusive 
economy. Bolder, meaningful, long-term collaboration among these partners 
working towards a shared vision and goals is needed to achieve measurable impact 
on key metrics such as improved educational performance, higher wages and more 
affordable housing.

Critical to the successful implementation of inclusive economy initiatives is the need 
for increased local powers and flexibilities to work at the local/regional level along 
with devolved funding from central government to test and scale-up promising 
programmes. New forms of finance from complementary sources, including community 
crowd sourcing, social impact bonds and the private sector are vital and require 
innovative design, investment and leadership.

Defining Inclusive Growth/Economy
The presentations by experts working in this area nationally and globally also provided 
language that Oxfordshire can consider for a working definition of inclusive economy:

The Organisation for Economy Cooperation and Development (OECD) defines 
inclusive growth as “economic growth that creates opportunity for all segments of 
the population and distributes the dividends of increased prosperity, both in 
monetary and non-monetary terms, fairly across society.”

CLES offers that: “An Inclusive Economy offers a genuine progressive conceptual 
frame in which greater consideration is given to social benefits that flow from, and 
feed into, economic activity. The Plymouth Inclusive Growth Group has simplified 
the definitional language to be: “Growing prosperity that reduces inequality and is 
sustainable.”

These policy debates pointed us to start with this Plymouth definition as it concisely 
emphasises the ideas of increasing overall prosperity, ensuring all residents partake 
in increased prosperity, and that policies and initiatives are driven to find lasting 
(sustainable) solutions.

26. Page 93



4. Priority Areas to pursue for an 
Inclusive Economy in Oxfordshire

Areas for further exploration which could help define the goals and tactics for an
Oxfordshire Inclusive Economy agenda include:

Increasing local spend and enhancing local businesses through 
procurement – learning from the experiences of other UK cities, Oxfordshire can 
look to boost local spend and economic capture through procurement strategies of 
anchor institutions such as local authorities, universities and colleges, the health 
sector and major local businesses. The benefits of this will be to add to the 
sustainability of local businesses and foster opportunities for local business set up, 
who often employ local residents. This could include: a) initiatives to boost the 
capacity of local small and medium sized businesses, and socially purposeful 
enterprises to be competitive suppliers; and b) creating more clarity on priority criteria 
to generate social value.

Place-based programmes / investment to targeted areas (e.g. high 
deprivation) – there is an acknowledged reality that deprivation and inequality of 
opportunity is concentrated in particular areas of Oxfordshire, and that place-based 
programmes and investment that combine hard and soft infrastructure can be shaped 
to retain more economic benefits locally. These benefits can include enhancing the 
skills of local residents, creating pathways for work, and opportunities in new 
businesses. For example, this can follow current neighbourhood initiatives to include a 
business support function to start-up businesses, investment in community facilities, 
enhanced skills training, alongside the emerging community and education impact 
zones.

27.

Page 94



More targeted investment in better educational attainment, skills-based 
training, and access to jobs in the new economy – talent development and 
the ability to empower local residents to gain the skills needed to compete and 
access new forms of employment are critical to opening up opportunities. Support at 
every stage of learning, including early education interventions, with an effective 
pathway into employment requires a more dynamic skills and education system with 
more engaged business leadership. There is a challenge to develop awareness of 
opportunities in new sectors for young people – whether that be technology or 
services. This should consider targeted initiatives to help people excluded from the 
workforce to overcome barriers to jobs.

Linking social/community outcomes and benefits as part of 
infrastructure investments – Extensive investment of circa £700m is planned in 
Oxfordshire’s infrastructure which will improve connectivity between local communities 
and economic opportunities. An example is the Cowley Branch line as a potential 
infrastructure project that must ensure that new rail services will benefit existing local 
residents and not lead to gentrification. This will require explicit goals, metrics and 
commitments to achieve benefits for the community and existing residents beyond 
infrastructure delivery.

Enhancing access to affordable commercial property and workspace – 
helping to incubate and grow local start-up businesses (including social enterprises) 
requires having access to affordable workspace. This could be pursued through 
‘meanwhile use’ programmes, leveraging public sector ownership of land and 
buildings, partnering with anchor institutions that own substantial property, and other 
initiatives.

Addressing housing affordability in innovative communities – with the 
combination of housing growth, infrastructure delivery, and institutional partnership, 
there should be opportunities to use innovation and experimentation to try new models 
for housing that more quickly and directly address affordability, including potential 
housing discounts, and new forms of ownership.

Encourage more socially and environmentally responsible businesses – 
while this work is underway, more can be done to increase the number of socially and 
environmentally responsible businesses through Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR), best practices, alternative forms of ownership, etc. This initiative could be 
linked to procurement to give priority status on spending decisions to suppliers that 
earn recognition for socially responsible actions (e.g. paying all employees a living 
wage).

28. Page 95



Economic impact of 
COVID-19 and implications 
for inclusive economy
When the Oxfordshire inclusive economy initiative started in summer 2019, and the 
four seminars were conducted between October 2019 and January 2020, COVID-19 
was effectively unknown and the global health pandemic it caused was unforeseen. 
As this report was being compiled, designed, and reviewed, it became clear that 
COVID-19 would have a major impact on both the health and economic well-being of 
our residents. While the work of the City Council and its partners focused on crisis 
support and delivery of critical services, we have also developed and started 
implementing economic recovery plans throughout Oxfordshire.

Central to our collective economic recovery planning work is a recognition that the 
priorities and inclusive economy work that we started to outline in this report is as 
important, if not more so, than ever before. Thus, the core issues, opportunities and 
actions developed through the seminars and various other stakeholder meetings is 
still fully relevant. And the need to establish an Inclusive Economy Commission to 
drive and guide this work is fully recognized by all participants. As an example at the 
district level, Oxford City Council has embraced inclusive economy as one of four 
corporate priorities and is establishing an Inclusive Economy Programme Board to 
implement and monitor progress across Council service areas.

Economic Context
The health and economic impacts of COVID-19 are, and will continue to be, profound. 
It will affect the livelihoods and jobs of thousands of local people in Oxfordshire. For 
example, the RSA recently estimated that 22,000 jobs are at risk in Oxford (18% of the 
total) with other researchers suggesting unemployment rates over 10% nationally. 
Evidence and early data research points to the COVID-19 pandemic having the largest 
impact on the people who were already economically deprived before this new crisis. 
This means that for a city like Oxford, with one of the highest levels of income 
inequality in England, the effects are likely to be geographically concentrated in lower 
income communities with higher pre-existing levels of deprivation. This also means 
effects will be larger for many less-skilled workers (not able to safely remote work from 
home) and BAME groups employed disproportionately in lower paid sectors. Further, 
the killing of George Floyd in the United States and the subsequent global protests 
against structural racism further highlight the urgency to work harder to create a more 
equal society, and generate greater opportunities for all.

                                                                                                                                                                                              29.
Page 96



These more recent impacts and events increase the importance of implementing 
inclusive economy initiatives, with particular emphasis on:

Increased community participation in setting inclusive 
economy priorities and actions
Consistent with findings from the fourth seminar on advancing inclusive economy 
priorities, there is a growing awareness that for this to be successful, we need much 
greater participation and leadership from a wider-range of community leaders and 
representatives. In short, early work of the Inclusive Economy Commission and City 
Council must include proactive methods of engaging a wider set of residents and 
community stakeholders, which can leverage existing community service area efforts 
by Districts as well as social enterprises, educators, and community services in local 
areas.

Helping people get back to work
Substantial numbers of workers have already been furloughed and many will lose their 
jobs permanently. Some promising regional initiatives to help redeploy workers who 
lost their job into a position with near-term opportunity (e.g. grocery stores/ delivery) 
likely will need to be scaled-up to mitigate against the negative effects of long-term 
unemployment. But, much more will be needed, such as upskilling, increased 
apprenticeships, and the idea of partnering with industry to tailor fast-paced training 
programs to meet their upcoming hiring needs. And it is critical that effective 
community employment plans (CEPs) are put in place for major construction projects 
to retain local jobs for local residents. In OxLEP’s Oxfordshire Investment Plan the 
People Pillar outlines a need to create a ‘responsive skills system which can provide 
the talent which businesses need to thrive and grow’ which is critical to recovery. The 
People pillar is structured around the Oxfordshire ‘Social Contract’, an innovative 
programme (with relevance for other areas of the UK) anchored in inclusive growth 
and levelling-up economic opportunities across the County.

Place-Based Inclusive Economy / Neighbourhood Regeneration
We think that addressing income inequalities and geographically concentrated 
COVID-19 impacts will need to take on a stronger place-based emphasis, with 
targeted community-level interventions around skills training and small business 
support (for example), as the economic impacts are generally being felt most acutely 
in lower income neighbourhoods. Initial ideas currently being piloted and explored 
include:

 Establishing Town Teams to develop community-led recovery plans for specific 
areas.

 Scoping out the potential for empty (or soon to be empty) estate shops to be 
used for community-led activities/businesses and social enterprises.

 Working with Activate Learning, OxLEP, Aspire etc. to explore the use of 
community centres for renewed focus as places of skills training, job 
redeployment, and enterprise support, with particular emphasis on supporting 
younger people and those on furlough or made redundant.

 Seeking community wealth building and ownership as part of current and 
future regeneration and development projects.

30.
Page 97



How Inclusive Economy informed Oxford City Council’s COVID 19 recovery planning:

Like many areas, the city council put in place a phased recovery plan to support its residents and businesses through 
the COVID crisis. Some examples below highlight the clear policy steer playing out in practice at each phase, 
Response, Restart, Recover & Rebuild. 

Response
The council has distributed £27m in business grants through COVID 19 support for rate payers. Where BEIS 
Discretionary grant funds allowed some local freedoms, these were used to support businesses that demonstrate 
they pay the Real Living Wage or Oxford Living Wage, or that they can demonstrate positive social and 
environmental impacts. £1.419m was provided to 200 local businesses using these approaches. Social enterprises 
and other similar socially focussed businesses such as cycle repair co-op Broken Spoke were among many others 
that received a £5,000 grant as a result. 

Another example of Inclusive economy approaches was Oxford Direct Services’ (ODS) work to supports the work of 
the Locality Response Hubs including the delivery of food and prescription drugs to vulnerable households. The 
subsidiary company delivers on the Oxford Model of attracting trading income to deliver services on behalf of Oxford 
residents. During the pandemic, this is just one example where ODS took the role on directly by providing the 
service.

Restart 
Getting people back to work, will be a key aim through the restart and recovery phases. Oxford City Council is 
working with local social enterprise Aspire to build a network of advisors to work directly in our localities and Locality 
Hubs, to build a larger network of volunteer advisers to signpost people to the best training, employment and other 
pre-work support available, where they are affected by redundancy or unemployment. This seven month pilot will 
then be mainstreamed if demand is there and proved successful. 

Through the restart and now recovery phases, our new Procurement policy, agreed Despite post COVID financial 
pressures, the City Council also moved ahead with a one year Procurement Strategy. Its focus is on ethical and 
sustainable procurement, equality and diversity, and Social Value with an implicit commitment to work with social 
enterprises and coops within this.

This policy was recently demonstrated in practice with the council using RAW Workshop, a social enterprise 
employing local people overcoming disadvantage to provide sustainable wood planters to free up outside dining 
space.

Recover 
There is, even in Oxford, a likelihood of increased retail vacancies as well as upheaval in the wider commercial 
property market. With a mind to this, the City council has secured government funding (subject to due diligence) 
through OxLEP funding to provide small capital pots to fit out 150 vacant units for meanwhile uses, with 50 of these 
in Oxford. The aim will be to provide new opportunities for enterprises typically locked out of commercial in the past 
and tie this with new employment programmes such as the government’s Kick Start to Work programme for example. 
Socially focussed enterprises will benefit. Living Wage paying will be encouraged for those that benefit.

The City Council is also working alongside commercial tenants to support long-term sustainability of their businesses 
as we face shared challenges of recovery from the economic shock of COVID19.

Rebuild
This is of course just the start. Oxford City Council and a range of partners, building on a recent Inclusive economy 
seminar series that engaged a wide range of leaders, sectors and anchor institutions, is now set to establish an 
Inclusive Economy Commission to address the long-term challenges through best practice and concerted partner 
action, alongside communities. Initiatives will include social value focussed procurement, place-based programmes 
of investment to reduce deprivation, targeted skills and infrastructure investments, and provision of affordable 
housing and workspace. It will also align with broader policies such as ‘Early years’ education initiatives, growing 
apprenticeship opportunities and regional investments across the Oxford-Cambridge ARC. Alongside this, the city’s 
new economic strategy will be launched to focus on this rebuilding through triple bottom line objectives

                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                 31.Page 98



Next Steps to
5. Advance Inclusive 

Economy Initiative

•

•

•

•

•

To advance Oxfordshire’s inclusive economy work agenda, OSP and OxLEP plan 
to engage in a number of action-oriented work packages in 2020/21. This is likely to 
include:

Working with the city, county and district councils and a wide-range of partners to 
collectively form and resource an Inclusive Economy Commission to clarify purpose, 
scope and help carry work forward.

To establish the Commission, we profiled similar efforts in other parts of the UK and 
internationally-reflecting the unique characteristics which define Oxford and 
Oxfordshire as a globally recognised seat of learning and innovation hub-to learn how 
they have formed commissions or other groups to carry this work forward, the 
membership of commissions, and their key roles and partners.

Supporting the initial work of the Inclusive Economy Commission and help engage 
with partners to develop more specific initiatives, pilot projects and policies to start 
implementing inclusive economy priorities.

Initiating a task and finish group (or similar) on local procurement spending and social 
value with anchor institutions.

Working with partners to undertake community engagement to bring more voices 
and perspectives into this initiative.

32.
Page 99



32. Page 100



www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To: Oxfordshire Growth Board 

Title of Report: Oxfordshire Plan: Proposed new timetable and quarter two 
report

Date: 24th November 2020

Report of: Rachel Williams, Oxfordshire Plan Programme Lead

Status: Open

Introduction
1. This report provides an update on the work to produce the Oxfordshire Plan.  It 

outlines the proposals for a new Plan timetable developed following recent 
conversations with the government about the overall Deal programme.  The 
report also summarises the quarter two headlines for the Oxfordshire Plan 
project.

New programme
2. Growth Board will be aware that the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government have recently agreed in principle an extension of time for the 
production of the Oxfordshire Plan.  They have agreed that full use can now be 
made of the 5-year Growth Deal period for the production of the Plan.  This is a 
significant shift in position, instead of being limited to simply the first 3 years of 
the Deal, there is now an opportunity to utilise the full 5-year period to produce 
the best Plan possible.  All the partners have confirmed that are keen to make 
the best use of the opportunity the plan presents.  

3. Having secured agreement for this principle, the team has been investigating 
how best to use the additional time this affords the project; how to allocate the 
available time to the tasks that are remaining.  The timetable below sets out a 
proposed programme for completion of this work.  This would deliver an 
Oxfordshire Plan as currently scoped and agreed in the Housing and Growth 
Deal (i.e. identifying broad locations for growth to be developed at a later stage 

Executive Summary and Purpose:
This report provides an update on the work to produce the Oxfordshire Plan.  It 
outlines the proposals for a new Plan timetable and summarises the quarter two 
headlines for the project.

Recommendation(s):
a) That Growth Board endorses the proposed new timetable
b) That Growth Board notes the quarter two report.

Appendices:
None

Page 101

Agenda Item 10a



by future Local Plans for example through AAPs).  Under this timetable the 
Oxfordshire Plan could be submitted for examination by September 2022, and 
(dependent on the Inspector’s programme) could be fully adopted by all 5 
district councils by Spring 2023, within the 5-year period of the Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal.

4. The interim milestones of the project would be adjusted as follows:
Oxfordshire Plan Stage New Proposed Date Date in published 

Growth Deal /Status
Draft Statement of Common Ground 31 March 2018 

Achieved 
Joint JSSP Project Board 
established

July 2018
Achieved

Stakeholder Launch Achieved
Consultation on Vision & Objectives 
(Reg. 18 part 1)

Achieved

Consultation on Spatial Growth 
Options (including scale and Broad 
Locations of Growth) (Reg. 18 part2)

Summer 2021 n/a

Consultation on Submission (Draft) 
Plan (Reg. 19)

Spring 2022 30 October 2019

Submission September 2022 31 March 2020
Examination November/December 

2022
Subject to Planning 
Inspectorate

Inspectors Report February/March 
2023

Subject to Planning 
Inspectorate

Adoption May/June 2023 31 March 2021

Timing of linked projects
5. This new programme has the additional benefit of allowing the linked work of 

developing the Strategic Vision to conclude ahead of (and therefore to inform) 
the next Plan consultation.  The concept of this overarching Vision is that it 
should help inform development of the spatial options and the eventual 
preferred spatial strategy in the Oxfordshire Plan, but also assist more broadly 
in developing other strategies and projects of the Growth Board.  A separate 
report on the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision came to the Growth Board meeting 
on 30th October.  

6. At the Growth Board meeting of 2nd June, a report was provided setting out the 
work required on the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) update.  That 
report drew clear links between the Oxfordshire Plan and OxIS; it is important 
that both projects are progressed in a co-ordinated manner so that each 
benefits from the inputs of the other.  The timetable for work on OxIS was 
carefully planned to fit with the stages of work on the Oxfordshire Plan with 
Stage 1 of OxIS feeding into the Reg18(part2) Plan consultation, and Stage 2 
of OxIS supporting the Reg19 Plan consultation.  Both project teams are 
confident that the adjusted timetable for the Oxfordshire Plan outlined above 
remains aligned with the phased approach to the OxIS work and that no further 
adjustments are required.

Quarter two headlines and progress made
7. The above timetable is made possible by the significant progress that has been 

made on the wide range of work streams that make up the Plan project.
Page 102



8. In quarter two, the team has been focussed on the following key areas of work:
 Oxfordshire Open Thought
 Development of Oxfordshire Strategic Vision
 Progressing technical studies to build the evidence base
 Working with Liaison Group, Heads of Planning Group, Steering Groups 

for commissioned work, and working groups of technical officers to 
define and refine policy options for the Plan

Oxfordshire Open Thought
9. In the last quarter Oxfordshire Open Thought was launched.  This was 

designed to be an additional informal public engagement exercise; an 
opportunity to broaden the reach of the project, to gain new policy ideas, and to 
energise stakeholders and wider community ahead of next formal Plan 
consultation.  A new website was launched in June; it asked individuals, 
organisations and businesses to consider some of the future challenges and 
opportunities and submit their ideas around three key topics: living and working; 
connectivity; and climate change. We have secured 2,366 unique users over 
3,508 browsing sessions and 10,101 page views.  Importantly, this has 
broadened the demographic reach of the Plan with 12% of users being aged 
under 24 and a further 22% between 25 and 34.  Just under 300 submissions 
were received from individuals, academics, environmental groups, developers, 
consultants and businesses. We are currently processing those submissions 
and will publish a summary report when complete; we are also following up 
leads from the submissions where they will help with the development of Plan 
options.  In the future we plan to launch a phase 2 exercise of Open Thought 
through which a series of submissions from variety of groups will be profiled 
and participants will be asked to comment and give their views to develop the 
conversation further.

Development of Oxfordshire Strategic Vision
10. In recent months capacity from the Oxfordshire Plan team has been made 

available to help develop the emerging Oxfordshire Strategic Vision. As part of 
the work on the Oxfordshire Plan it was identified that establishing a clear 
narrative setting out what the partners are trying to achieve through the Plan 
and what the strategic priorities are likely to be would be beneficial. 

 
Progressing technical studies
11. Much of the work of the team in quarter two was focussed on the delivery of 

key elements of the technical evidence base.  A range of technical studies have 
been commissioned to provide baseline information, data, mapping and 
projections of various types.  Each commission has involved the input of all the 
authority partners from scoping, through interviewing, selection and co-
ordination, via a steering group set up to oversee the work and provide the link 
with the consultancies. The emerging outputs of these studies are being used 
to inform the selection of options that will be presented for consultation in the 
next published Plan document.  Each of the evidence base studies will be 
published alongside the Plan (Regulation 18 part 2) consultation document so 
that those engaging with the process can understand the work that has 
informed its drafting.  Thereafter studies will be used to test the options and in 
time form the supporting evidence for the consideration of the Plan at 

Page 103



examination by an Inspector.  It is crucial to the Plan making process to make 
this evidence base gathering stage comprehensive and robust.

Working to refine policy options
12. Throughout the project a series of groupings have continued to meet to provide 

input into the plan making process.  Towards the end of quarter two (and this 
will continue into quarter three) the focus of these groups (including Liaison 
Group, the Heads of Planning Group, the Steering Groups for commissioned 
work, and the working groups of technical officers) has been on defining and 
refining policy options for the Plan.  This work has been based on wealth of 
local and specialist knowledge available within the partners, best practise, 
government guidance, the Sustainability Appraisal process, and the emerging 
outputs of the technical studies.  There is now a good deal of clarity for 
example on the range of options that will be presented in the next consultation 
document on a wide range of topics.  Work will continue into quarter three to 
refine these and ensure there is evidence for and consensus around the 
options. 

Risk Management 
13. The following key risks to the production of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 have 

been reported previously and are still important considerations:
 Challenges of being a front-runner, producing a new type of Plan with 

little bespoke guidance in national policy – this has become more 
relevant with the publication of the Planning White Paper.

 Challenging timeframe for production of the Plan given the complexities 
of the topics it will cover and of partnership working – this is now 
mitigated with the new timetable outlined above although there is no 
further contingency.

 The development of a clear, agreed spatial strategy to form the basis of 
the policies; without this the defence of the Plan and its policies would 
be impossible – development of the Strategic Vision seeks to fill this 
space.

 Links with external projects such as the OxCam Arc. 
 Links with and relationship to district Local Plans especially with those 

which haven’t yet been adopted.

14. Growth Board will be aware that Oxfordshire currently benefits from a flexibility 
in the housing land supply requirement which was separately enshrined in a 
ministerial statement in 2018.  This provides for Oxfordshire Local Planning 
Authorities to maintain a 3-year land supply, rather than a 5-year land supply, 
and remains in place until 31 March 2021.  In the conversations with MHCLG 
on extending the timetable for the Plan, they have indicated that an extension 
to this flexibility is not likely to be supported. 

15. Officers have developed a detailed risk register including mitigations that are 
reported to the Heads of Planning Group and the Programme Board to ensure 
that risk is managed.

Financial Implications
16. The Housing and Growth Deal provided £2.5m to support the production of the 

Plan.  Work will continue to ensure that the project can be delivered within the 
allocated budget. 

Page 104



Legal Implications 
17. The Government has already indicated that it is comfortable in principle with the 

change to the timetable as set out in the Growth Deal; beyond that there are no 
legal implication to changes the timetable.  It would require an updated LDS to 
be approved by each district; this can be included in a committee report 
covering the Oxfordshire Plan when appropriate.

Other Implications
18. None

Conclusion 
19. By using the full extent of the 5-year Deal timeframe there is a much better 

prospect of delivering an Oxfordshire Plan that represents the vision and 
objectives of the Growth Deal partners, which can be found sound at 
examination, will add value to the local planning policy framework, which will 
win the support of wider stakeholders, and which will deliver change. 

20. Growth Board is asked to consider the outline proposed timeline for the 
production of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and endorse this approach.  Growth 
Board is also asked to note the quarter two report.

Background Paper(s)
21. None

 

Report Author: Rachel Williams, Oxfordshire Plan Programme Lead

Contact information: rachel.williams@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Page 105



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 17 September 2020 

Notes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Oxfordshire 

Plan 2050 Advisory Sub-Group 
 

HELD ON THURSDAY 17 SEPTEMBER 2020 AT 10.00 AM 

VIRTUAL MEETING VIA MS TEAMS 
 

 

Present: 
 
Members: Councillors James Mills (Chair), Jeff Haine, Debby Hallett, Alex Hollingsworth, 
Jeannette Matelot and Anne-Marie Simpson 
 
Officers: Alison Bailey (Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Team), Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire 
District Council Chief Executive), Kevin Jacob,(Oxfordshire Growth Board),  Peter Truman 
(Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Team) and Rachel Williams (Oxfordshire Plan 2050) 
 
 

11 Apologies for absence and notifications of substitutes; 
declarations of interest; Chair's announcements  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Colin Clarke, (Cherwell District Council) and 
Councillor Catherine Webber, (Vale of White Horse District Council) who was substituted 
by Councillor Debby Hallett.  
 
Councillor Sue Cooper, (South Oxfordshire District Council) was present as an observer.  
 
The Chair announced that he would be stepping down as Leader of WODC from 28 
October and therefore would no longer be the Chair or a member of the subgroup from 
that date. Members of the subgroup paid tribute to his chairmanship and wished him well 
for the future. It was noted that a new Chair would be appointed by the Growth Board in 
due course. 
 

12 Notes of the previous meeting  
 
The notes of the previous meeting were agreed subject to the following amendment to 
minute 9, final paragraph to:  
 
‘Officers explained that the current draft guiding principles tried to provide a balance to the 
weight of all principles, and that there was already a strong direction on climate change in 
the existing guiding principles. They explained that guiding principles would likely form part 
of the Strategic Vision and there would an opportunity to consider them in that context, 
including next steps. Members acknowledged this, but emphasised that they wished to 
strongly recommend that the guiding principles form part of the Strategic Vision’ 
 

Page 106

Agenda Item 10b



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 17 September 2020 

13 Presentation on the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy project - 
James Gagg (Oxfordshire County Council)  
 
The subgroup received a presentation from James Gagg, Infrastructure Strategy Team 
Leader, (Interim) on the latest progress of the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy Update, 
(OxIS). This provided: 
 

• a recap of the background to the original OxIS which had the purpose of prioritising 
Oxfordshire’s infrastructure requirements to 2040 and beyond,  

• the importance of OxIS, links and relationship between OxIS and the Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 with both project teams working together,  

• the updated objectives of the update with increased focus on environmental, climate 
change and wellbeing matters; and  

• the anticipated timeline of the update over two stages including the anticipated 
appointment of consultants by end of September.   

 
The subgroup discussed the presentation and the importance of carefully planning and 
coordinating the timings and interactions between OxIS and the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
was emphasised. It was noted that OxIS would form part of the evidence base for the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and that it needed to reflect the Plan appropriately, even though the 
OxIS update process was running ahead of the equivalent stage of the Plan timeline.  
 
The importance of the OxIS update considering and where appropriate responding to the 
need to renew existing key strategic infrastructure, (such as hospitals) required to support 
future populations was also stressed. Officers commented that they were comfortable with 
the timelines between the projects adding that some flexibility was built into both timelines. 
In respect of renewal of existing strategic infrastructure, Officers agreed to consider this 
and where appropriate to further engage with external stakeholders to seek to establish 
where existing strategic infrastructure might need to be renewed to meet the objectives of 
the Plan and OxIS.   
 
Members also referred to the continued uncertainty around the future of the proposed 
Oxford to Cambridge Expressway, acknowledging that currently development of the 
proposal had been paused by HM Government, but not definitively withdrawn. It was felt 
that regional transport factors influencing Oxfordshire did need to be reflected within the 
updated OxIS. The subgroup was informed that the Plan’s risk register did refer to the 
Expressway, but that it was necessary to continue to progress the Plan.  
 
Members welcomed and supported the refocussing of the OxIS objectives towards 
supporting sustainable growth and discussed how this related and linked into opportunities 
for bidding for central government funding. Officers commented that the indications were 
that there was a shift in focus by HM Government towards supporting lower carbon 
transport strategies, the Active Travel initiative being one such example of this. The strong 
evidence base provided by an updated OxIS would provide a good position to bid for 
funding.  
 
The subgroup noted the presentation. 
 
 
 

Page 107



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 17 September 2020 

14 Feedback from the Oxfordshire Open Thought exercise - Peter 
Truman (Oxfordshire Plan Team)  
 
The subgroup received a presentation providing an update on the Oxfordshire Open 
Thought exercise which had been an informal public engagement exercise building upon 
the initial Oxfordshire Plan 2050 consultation.  
 
The website which had been launched on 1 June had asked individuals, organisations and 
businesses to consider future challenges and opportunities around the topics of: 
 

• Living and working  

• Connectivity  

• Climate change. 
 
It was felt that the initiative had been successful, and the subgroup was updated on some 
of the headline website analytics which had included some 2,300 unique users. In addition, 
engagement had been evenly split across age groups, but with the highest percentage of 
users within the 23-34 age range. This was encouraging as a key objective of the initiative 
had been to broaden the reach of engagement with the public and widen the demographic 
when compared to more traditional methods.  
 
Some 300 submissions had been received from a range of individuals, organisations, 
academics, developers and consultants. These responses were currently being processed 
with the help of students from Oxford Brookes University, prior to a summary report of the 
submissions being produced. It was anticipated to move beyond the initial phase by 
considering some of the wider issues outside of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 by continuing 
to preserve the innovative approach to engagement used in Phase 1. Some responses 
would be spotlighted on the website for public comment as a mechanism for promoting 
wider debate amongst the community, but this did not imply agreement or tacit 
endorsement of a particular policy position. Officers were working with a number of 
individuals and organisations to achieve this.  
 
The subgroup noted the update. 
 

15 Oxfordshire Strategic Vision update - Alison Bailey (Oxfordshire 
Plan Team)   
 
The subgroup received a verbal update on work to draft an Oxfordshire Strategic vision 
following the workshop and discussions held at the previous meetings.  
 
Alison Bailey, Oxfordshire Plan Team updated the subgroup that detailed work on the draft 
was continuing, picking up and taking into account the comments made by the subgroup. 
Bev Hindle, the Growth Board Director was developing a programme for the Vision and it 
was expected to be able to undertake wider officer engagement with partners and 
stakeholders on a draft in due course prior to future consideration by the Growth Board. It 
was intended that following Growth Board consideration; an informal non-statutory 
consultation would take place before Christmas with the results being feedback to the 
Growth Board in spring 2021.  
 

Page 108



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 17 September 2020 

The subgroup suggested the use of the Open Thought website and approach to the 
potential consultation on the Vision and noted that discussions would take place around 
the practicalities of this.  
 
The subgroup noted the update.   
 

16 Future meetings  
 
The subgroup noted the dates of its future meetings, as presented in the agenda.   
 
 
The meeting closed at 12.00 pm 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 109



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Subgroup notes - 15 October 2020 

Notes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Oxfordshire 

Plan 2050 Advisory Sub-Group 
 

HELD ON THURSDAY 15 OCTOBER 2020 AT 10.00 AM 

VIRTUAL VIA MS TEAMS 
 

 

Present: 
 
Members: Councillors James Mills (Chair), Colin Clarke, Jeff Haine, Alex Hollingsworth, 
Jeannette Matelot, Anne-Marie Simpson and Catherine Webber 
 
Officers: Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire District Council), Kevin Jacob and Rachel 
Williams (Oxfordshire Plan 2050) 
 

17 Apologies for absence and notifications of substitutes; 
declarations of interest; Chair's announcements  
 
There were no apologies for absence or substitutions.  
 
Councillor Mills declared an interested in the discussion regarding the engagement 
exercise undertaken with young people on the grounds his brother was an employee of 
Abingdon and Witney College, one of the colleges worked with. 
 

18 Notes of the previous meeting  
 
The notes of the previous meeting were agreed. 
 

19 Presentation on the Stage One outputs of the Oxfordshire Growth 
Needs Assessment work  
 
The subgroup received a presentation from Rachel Williams, Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Lead, 
setting out draft emerging outputs from the development of the Oxfordshire Growth Needs 
Assessment, (OGNA). This followed a previous presentation to the subgroup in May which 
had set out the brief of the consultants engaged to undertake the work.  
 
It was intended to share an updated comprehensive version of the presentation more 
generally with all district, county and city councillors later in the year incorporating 
feedback from the subgroup at this and the November meeting.   
 
The presentation covered: 
 

• The context of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, the Plan’s aspirations and its relationship 
with the OGNA. 

Page 110



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Subgroup notes - 15 October 2020 

• The purpose of the OGNA to: 
o  Appraise housing market and economic dynamics across Oxfordshire 
o  Provide a robust evidence base for understanding housing and employment land 

needs to 2050 
o  Inform decision-making whilst recognising increasing uncertainty further into the 

future 
o  A product closely developed with an Officer Steering Group comprised of 

representatives of all Oxfordshire principal councils.  

• The structure and two stages to the OGNA 

• Headline information on Oxfordshire’s Housing Market  

• Headline demographic Trends in Oxfordshire  

• An explanation of HM Government’s ‘Standard Method’ of calculating minimum 
housing need 

• Wider policy considerations 

• Economic trajectories and assumptions in modelling  

• A range of indicative needs trajectories for Oxfordshire  

• Next steps 
 
Officers stressed the OGNA would form an important part of the consideration of the levels 
of housing and employment to be identified within the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. Its purpose 
was not to make recommendations about housing or jobs targets for the Plan, but it would 
provide a range of reasonable figures for testing and consultation and its outputs would 
need to be considered by local decision makers within the local authorities alongside other 
Plan evidence. 
 
The subgroup asked detailed questions relating to the inputs and methodologies used 
within the assessment, the relationships with the local plans, consideration of Covid 19 
and Brexit impacts on future economic growth and of major employment locations with 
commuters outside of Oxfordshire such as armed forces bases. Members of the subgroup 
commented on the importance of environmental considerations and Officers highlighted 
that in using the OGNA and through the Plan process, local decision makers had the 
opportunity not just to determine levels of growth, but to shape the future form of that 
growth.  
 
It was noted that further work would be undertaken, and a further discussion held at the 
November meeting. 
 

20 Future meetings and forward programme  
 
The subgroup noted the dates of its future meetings, as presented in the Agenda.  
 
Members were remined of engagement undertaken earlier in the year with young people 
from Abingdon & Witney College and City of Oxford College and that a summary of the 
findings had been circulated to them.  
 
In conclusion, Members of noted that this would be Councillor Mills last meeting of the 
subgroup and paid tribute to his contribution and chairmanship whilst wishing well for the 
future. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 11.20 am

 

Page 111



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Subgroup notes - 15 October 2020 

 

Page 112



www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To:                          Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report: Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report –                
Quarter Two, Year Three

Date: 24 November 2020

Report of: Paul Staines: Interim Head of Programme 

Status: Open 

BACKGROUND- AN AGREED EXTENSION TO THE DEAL

1) The Board will recall that officers reported at the last meeting on ongoing 
discussions with Government over potential changes to the terms of the Deal, 
recognising the historic delivery issues we had highlighted previously and the 
impact of the COVID pandemic.

Executive Summary and Purpose:

The purpose of this report is to update the Growth Board on progress at Quarter 
two, Year 3 (2020/21) with the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal (the Deal).

The report provides a summary of the following two strands of the Deal.
 Housing from Infrastructure Programme
 Affordable Housing programme

This report also contains a summary of the current governance position.

The third strand of the Deal- OxPlan 2050 is the subject of a separate report to the 
Board today, whilst the reporting of the fourth strand of the Deal, Productivity is 
through the OXLEP Board under separate arrangements.

Finally, Oxfordshire County Council, as the Accountable Body report 
a separate assurance statement, detailing the financial position of the Growth Deal 
elsewhere on this agenda 

Recommendation:
That the Growth Board notes the progress as at Quarter 2, 2020/21 towards the 
Housing and Growth Deal.

Appendices: None

Page 113

Agenda Item 10c



2) Government recognised these challenges and agreed in principle with 
Oxfordshire on a set of amendments to the terms of the Deal to ensure that the 
investment of money time and energy by both parties would bear fruit where at 
all possible. The amendments agreed reported to the last meeting are:

 An agreement to extend the infrastructure programme by up to two years- 
where delays to delivery mean the scheme will not complete within 5 
years- agreement to be a scheme by scheme basis.,

 Agreement that the value of the Deal to aid market recovery should be 
maximised and that we could agree a wider set of infrastructure priorities 
for the Deal, without losing the focus upon housing delivery being 
consequent upon the infrastructure investment.

 Agreement to extend the current three-year affordable housing 
programme to a fourth year to reflect the delays caused by the COVID 
pandemic- with additional flexibility into a 5th year to allow for schemes to 
be completed- on a scheme by scheme basis.

 Agreement that Oxfordshire will have flexibility to exceed the current 
affordable housing grant rates where circumstances require it, within the 
overall targets agreed in the Deal and subject to an agreed value for 
money Framework.

 Agreement that Government would consider extensions of timelines to 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 to ensure delivery but would require the 
rationale for this and not an open-ended period for delivery- due to the 
knock-on consequences to further Plan-making.

 Agreement to the need for further joint work to ensure that the OxPlan 
2050 would have the opportunity to perform well in Examination.

3) Officers reported to the last Board however that, in agreeing to these revised 
Oxfordshire Plan proposals Government advised that the planning flexibilities 
granted to Oxfordshire to deliver the 2050 Plan were enshrined in a ministerial 
statement and consequently, whilst needing to align where possible to a 
revised timetable, flexing these presented a challenge and was not likely to be 
supported.
 

4) The next step agreed with Government was a set of detailed submissions setting 
out what the positive impact of these extensions and flexibilities would be. 
Accordingly, we have submitted the required data and at the time of writing this 
report anticipate a meeting with MHCLG in early November to sign off the 
changes. Officers will provide a verbal update at the Board meeting.

Page 114



HOMES FROM INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAMME

5) The Growth Board are aware that the Homes from Infrastructure Programme 
(HfI) is a £150m investment in strategic infrastructure to support the 
acceleration of already planned housing in Oxfordshire over a five-year period 
from 2018/19 to 2022/23. The infrastructure projects include road, rail, cycle 
routes and footpaths, as well as social infrastructure such as schools.

6) The HfI programme has two aspects.

 Firstly, the commitment to spend £30 million per annum on named 
infrastructure projects that have been identified as accelerators for 
planned housing growth in Oxfordshire.

 Secondly that this expenditure will then accelerate 6,549 planned homes 
that might not otherwise have come forward at this pace.

Infrastructure

7) The Growth Board will recall that at the last meeting it endorsed a revised 
delivery programme for the Infrastructure workstream. This revised workstream 
forms part of our detailed submission to government mentioned in paragraph 4
 

8)  Officers are now working on delivering to this new timetable and developing 
detailed risk assessed summaries of each scheme as a basis for continuing 
performance management. Ongoing detailed reporting of this will be to the 
Infrastructure Subgroup.

9) The revised delivery trajectory has an impact upon the related commitment to 
spend £30 million per year over 5 years. Officers have previously advised the 
Board that this profile is not a realistic interpretation of infrastructure spend 
which is always backloaded due to the bulk of spend being on delivery.

10)Officers are establishing this revised spend profile for submission and 
agreement with Homes England/MHCLG.

Risk Management

11)Officers have identified the following risks to the infrastructure programme:
 The backloading of the infrastructure programme, an issue compounded 

by the pandemic that has led to concerns that some schemes may fall 
outside of the 5-year timeframe of the Deal. Consequently, as advised 
Government has recognised this issue and have signalled that they will 
allow certain infrastructure schemes to continue beyond the current 5 
years of the Deal- approved on a scheme by scheme basis.

 The consequent backloading of the spend trajectory for the programme 
when compared to the commitment to spend £30 million per year over 
the life of the programme.

 Managing the impact of the infrastructure programme upon the 
Oxfordshire road network- recognising that there are other significant 
infrastructure investment programmes in the same timeframe.

Page 115



 Potential delays due to the need for some schemes to acquire land 
through adversarial routes such as compulsory purchase.

 Reliance on third parties (developers / network rail etc) for delivery.
 The continuing impact of the COVID pandemic, for example further 

delays to schemes caused by current and future restrictions, COVID 
safe work practices restricting productivity, interruptions to supply and 
labour chains and the wish of contracts to be renegotiated by 
infrastructure providers to reflect their new operating environment. 

12)Officers have developed risk registers for each infrastructure scheme, and 
report these and any appropriate mitigations to the Programme Board to ensure 
that risks are managed.

Delivering Housing from Infrastructure

13)In the last report to the Board we advised that we had completed a year-end 
review of HFI the completions data for the second year of the Deal.

14)Subsequent to this and following the endorsement of the revised infrastructure 
programme officers examined and updated this trajectory with a focus upon 
completing our understanding of how both the review and the COVID pandemic 
have impacted it. The headlines of this review are:

 The infrastructure review had a small but positive impact upon the 
trajectory, increasing the number of accelerated homes by 199 

 The effects of COVID and the consequent delays to housing schemes 
has been material, reducing the overall trajectory- including the 
increase above- by 1215.
 

15)Accordingly, the revised trajectory for accelerated homes is as follows:

16)The Board will note that the trajectory has slightly reduced since we last 
reported to the Board and although remaining just above target, is now below 
the 6549 homes target, when we apply the 20% optimism bias to the expected 
delivery in the remaining years of the programme.

Page 116



17)Looking at the overall housing delivery trajectory for the Growth Deal period, 
the graph below offers the position.

18)In My last report officers advised that they expected that the effect of the 
COVID pandemic would be to delay housing completions and consequently 
materially reduce the total number of homes accelerated in the Deal, as this 
was a time limited programme. The completed trajectories from the partners 
demonstrate that this is the case in all districts except Oxford where delivery 
intentions remain robust.

19)This impact of COVID upon our housing acceleration targets will not be a 
surprise to the Board, reflecting as it does the national position. It is the key 
reason why government have agreed in principle to an additional period of up 
to two years for the completion of the infrastructure- recognising that additional 
time will be needed  to allow the full benefits of the infrastructure investment 
upon  housing acceleration to be realised.

Risk Management

20)The delivery plans contain the following risks, identified as the key to the 
delivery of homes:

 The pace of infrastructure delivery now heavily influenced by COVID. 
Particularly that identified as crucial to the acceleration of homes and the 
consequent impact on the pace of related housing development.

 The slowdown of housing sites caused by COVID
 The speed of resolution of any planning issues needed to unblock sites, 

this has been delayed by COVID although the impact was short term.
 Potential impact of external market factors and the health of the 

economy- for example, the stamp duty holiday has had a positive effect 
upon demand for housing.

21)Officers plan to continue ongoing analysis of the above risks ensure a 
comprehensive understanding and to plan mitigation activities.

Page 117



AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME (OAHP) 

22)In our last report to the Board officers  advised that the Affordable Housing 
Programme (OAHP) has also been affected by the COVID crisis with all 
development sites closing as a result of the pandemic and that recognising the 
last-minute impact upon the year two programme, government agreed to pay 
the grant for the full programme of 192 units and asked the accountable body to 
hold this money until the district partners reported that schemes had achieved 
the relevant contractual milestone.

23)Officers can report that all but one of the delayed year two schemes has 
reached the required milestone to draw down funding and the final scheme is at 
contract stage and will complete imminently. 

24)The pandemic has also had a consequent impact upon the year three 
programme materially reducing it to 275 units. This is because 490 units have 
slipped to the fourth year. Of this revised year three programme a total of 105 
units have already secured the contractual milestone required 

25)The full revised programme, including the fourth year presents a healthier 
picture. Partners now anticipate being able to deliver both the budget and 
numeric targets agreed in the Growth Deal by drawing upon a proposed 
programme of 1410 units, bolstered by a contingency programme, from which 
we can draw should schemes fail to materialise as anticipated that totals 521 
units

26) Financial challenges to this programme remain, but these have been offset by 
the ability to flex grant and the addition of local top up grant. The current 
programme agreed with partners envisages just over £5 Million of local Top up 
Grant.

27) The Board will be interested to learn that much of this Top up Grant is to add 
value to existing schemes, specifically to uplift the schemes to provide greater 
energy efficiency as part of the Board’s aim to deliver low/zero carbon housing. 
The year four programme contains 379 units specified as low or zero carbon 
housing 

28) This revised four-year programme formed part of the detailed submission to 
MHCLG mentioned in paragraph 4 and officers will feedback on their 
discussions with MHCLG at the meeting.

Risk Management 

29)The key risks to delivery of individual schemes within the OAHP, are primarily 
from delays in planning and tender processes caused by the COVID crisis 
together with financial challenges to schemes viability These risks are managed 
at district/city level.

Page 118



30)In addition to these site-specific risks, there are more general risks identified for 
the Programme, these are:

 That the OAHP is not currently large enough to withstand the anticipated 
dropout rate of schemes that typically occurs through the programme. 
Experience to date suggests that up to a third of schemes can be 
delayed in any one year for a variety of reasons, and the OAHP needs to 
have the capacity to allow for such drop out and still deliver to target. 
The mitigation for this has been the development of the contingency 
programme which can be used to draw in additional units as required.
 

31)The risks to the OAHP of the anticipated downturn in the economy, slowing 
housing completion rates and thence the affordable units developed. 

DEAL GOVERNANCE AND FINANCE

30.The focus for Q2 has been to continue balancing the achievement of business 
priorities within a virtual environment and progress with the development of 
initiatives to strengthen the governance of the Growth Deal programme.

31.Key priorities:

Financial management of the Growth Deal Capacity Fund
 Monthly financial statements produced for the Growth Deal Programme 

Board.
 Management and resolution of any transactional queries.
 Regular contact with OCC Finance, the Accountable Body, to review 

financial performance.
 Liaison with OCC Finance on the reforecasting of the Capacity Fund to 

fund the extension of the Growth Deal programmes.

Business Intelligence
 Review of existing programme reporting process.
 Design and implementation of a new reporting pack of business 

intelligence to report on Housing from Infrastructure, Affordable Housing 
and Oxfordshire Plan 2050 performance metrics. This new design, aimed 
at provision of succinct narrative and visual indicators to show 
performance, will be presented to the Growth Deal Programme Board in 
October 2020.  

Risk Management
 Review of the Strategic RAID Log for the Growth Deal programme, 

reporting on Risks, Assumptions, Issues and Dependencies. Key to this 
work has been to review the format of the RAID Log with a vision of 
providing a high-level summary of the Risks and Issues to the Growth 
Deal Programme Board.

 Design and implementation of the new format is to be presented to the 
Growth Deal Programme Board in October 2020.

 Feedback will then be incorporated into a final version and be presented 
formally on a quarterly basis, or in the event of exception reporting.

 Further work is required to ensure that the actions reported to each risk 
and issue are those that will make an impact to the resolution. This work 
will be ongoing to ensure that the Strategic RAID Log is flexible in its 

Page 119



design but will be seen, and acted upon, as the critical driver of the 
Growth Deal programme.

 Work in Q3 will be to refine the actions, secure named owners for each 
risk and issue and to encapsulate any risk or issue from the Growth Deal 
Lessons Learnt report.

Growth Deal Team
 Continued support provided to the team by programme leads and peers 

as we progress with work programmes in a virtual environment. 
Adaptations thought to be short-term are now being reviewed to ensure 
that they continue to be fit for purpose. 

 Q3 will see the regular virtual team meetings progress to a more 
workshop format, to enable the time to be used to develop, share and 
transfer skills e.g. project management skills, as well as team building 
virtual events and for time to talk.

Legal Implications 

32)None arising from this report.

Other Implications

33)None arising from this report. 

Conclusion 

34)This report outlines progress against the agreed Growth Deal year three, 
quarter two milestones.

35)The last two quarters of the Deal have seen the partners address both the 
historic challenges the Deal has faced since its inception and those challenges 
presented by the COVID pandemic

36)The report shows that despite these challenges Oxfordshire is making progress 
towards meeting our commitments under the Deal and there are robust 
management arrangements, both within each council and across the 
partnership to address risks and issues as they arise. 

37)The time extensions and grant flexibilities provided by Government to assist us 
in securing the Deal are a significant moment for Oxfordshire and ensure that 
as we focus upon the delivery of the contract we can do so against a more 
realistic timetable and with the ability to ensure that the Deal ‘s utility is 
maximised.

38)The report asks the Growth Board to note progress with the Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal and the achievement against the milestones 
committed to.

Page 120



Background Papers

None

Report Author: Paul Staines, Interim Head of Programme.

Contact information: paul.staines@oxfordshire.gov.uk

                                 

Page 121

mailto:paul.staines@oxfordshire.gov.uk


www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To: Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report: Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Report 
Quarter 2 2020/21

Date: 24 November 2020

Report of: Director of Finance, Oxfordshire County Council 
(Accountable Body)

Status: Open

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report sets out the financial position for Quarter 2 2020/21 of the following 
three stands of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and associated 
funding streams from Homes England (HE):

 Infrastructure Programme.
 Affordable Housing Programme. 

Executive Summary and Purpose:
The purpose of this report is to update the Growth Board on the 2020/21 financial 
position at the end of Quarter 2 for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.  
The report covers the three grant funding streams:

 Infrastructure programme 
 Affordable Housing programme 
 Growth Deal Capacity Fund 

The report is prepared by the Director of Finance for Oxfordshire County Council 
in the capacity of Section 151 Officer of the Accountable Body for the Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal and gives assurance over the grant funding and 
expenditure.

The fourth strand of the Deal, Productivity is reported through the OXLEP Board 
under separate arrangements

Recommendation: That the Growth Board notes the 2020/21 Quarter 2 financial 
report.

Appendices:
Annex 1 – Infrastructure Fund 2020/21 Programme
Annex 2 – Affordable Housing Programme
Annex 3 – Capacity Fund

Page 122

Agenda Item 10d



 Growth Deal Capacity Fund.

1.2 This report is prepared by the Director of Finance for Oxfordshire County 
Council (the County Council) in the capacity of Section 151 Officer of the 
Accountable Body for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and gives 
assurance over the grant funding and expenditure.

1.3  Funding for the fourth strand of the deal Productivity Programme is managed 
by the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP) and financial 
performance is reported independently to the Growth Board. 

2.0  Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Fund Financial Governance

2.1 In accordance with the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Delivery Plan, 
the County Council is the accountable body for the financial management of the 
three key financial streams. A quarterly report is provided to the Growth Board.  
Responsibility for the management of each financial stream is held by the 
programme lead.

2.2     As the Accountable Body, the County Council is responsible for ensuring that:

 Funding is received from Government.
 Recommendations to the Growth Board on schemes to be funded are in 

accordance with the grant conditions.
 Regular monitoring reports are provided to the Growth Board.

2.3 The County Council also holds the risk should Government require funding to 
be repaid if it is unspent or deemed to have been misused.  

3.0 Financial Summary Quarter 2 2020/21

3.1 Infrastructure Fund 

3.1.1  The Infrastructure Fund is a fund of £150.0m. The grant funding is paid in five 
equal annual instalments of £30.0m to the Accountable Body.  2020/21 is the 
third year of the Infrastructure Fund Programme.  

3.1.2 The total forecast for the year is £15.7m.  The total expenditure reported at the 
end of Q2 2020/21 is £2.8m.  The spend to date is lower than would be expected 
at this point in the year (17.8%).  Spend is expected to accelerate from October 
with two major schemes within the allocation for 2020/21 entering into contract. 
It is therefore expected that spend should exceed 60% by the end of Q3.  The 
NW Bicester A4095 project is forecast to spend the majority of the £6m budget 
in October when work begins on site and the invoice is received for the off-site 
fabrication of the steel underbridge.  The A44 Corridor Improvements scheme 
will also be in contract by the end of Q3 with £4m forecast to be spent by the 
end of the year.  A breakdown of schemes in the programme for 2020/21 is set 
out at Annex 1.  

3.1.3 On 23 July a meeting was held between Growth Deal officers and 
representatives from Homes England and the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to explore options to extend Page 123



some of the deadlines to more accurately and realistically reflect a true delivery 
timeframe, taking into account that some of the challenges in delivering the deal 
within the original timeframe have been exacerbated by Covid-19.   It was 
agreed that extensions to schemes need to be considered on a scheme by 
scheme and site-specific basis as part of an agreed, open and transparent 
comprehensive programme.  Where possible, the County Council will continue 
to use its freedoms and flexibilities to ensure that funding is available to support 
the delivery profile of the programme, including potentially making funding 
available to support the completion of schemes beyond 2022/23. 

3.1.4 In April the County was informed that the annual Growth Deal Infrastructure 
Grant payment of £30m would be made to the Council in September 2020.  The 
payment was not received in September and remains outstanding, this will be 
followed up with Homes England and MHCLG.   

3.2 Affordable Housing Fund 

3.2.1  The Affordable Housing Fund is a fund of up to £60.0m available over the first 
three years of the growth deal from 2018/19 to 2020/21 of which £14.3m has 
been claimed in the first two years.  Following the meeting with Homes England 
and MHCLG on 23 July 2020, an agreement in principle has been reached to 
extend the programme into a fourth year.  The remaining funding has now been 
reprofiled over 2020/21 and 2021/22.  The projected number of affordable 
homes has also been reprofiled to reflect the change to the programme.  

3.2.2 The reprofiled Affordable Housing Programme detail is set out in Annex 3.  The 
actual funding claimed is agreed with Homes England at the end of each 
financial year based on the number of affordable housing units that are in 
contract to be delivered.  As set out in Annex 3, the estimated deliverable units 
to 2022/23 currently exceed the available grant funding of £60.0m by £1.3m.  
This is deemed to be reasonable as a number of schemes are at the early 
stages of planning and may reduce in size or be removed from the programme.  
If this does not happen, a decision will need to made to prioritise schemes as 
the total cost of the scheme cannot exceed the available grant.     

3.2.3  A summary of revised profile for 2020/21 is set out in the following table.  This 
has been updated from the forecast reported at the end of Q1:

Grant 
Claim

Affordable 
Housing 

Units

District Council

£m No.
Cherwell District Council 4.0 99
Oxford City Council 3.8 92
South Oxfordshire District Council - -
Vale of White Horse District Council 0.8 24
West Oxfordshire District Council 2.7 60
Total 11.3 275

Page 124



3.3 Growth Deal Capacity Fund 

3.3.1  The Growth Deal Capacity Fund is a fund of £5.0m.  The grant has been paid 
to the County Council in three instalments.  The first instalment of £0.5m was 
paid in 2017/18, followed by an instalment of £2.5m in 2018/19 and £2.0m in 
2019/20.  

3.3.2 The funding is available to be used over the life of the programme which was 
originally planned to run from 2017/18 to 2022/23.  At year end, funding that 
has not been spent is carried forward through the County Council’s Earmarked 
Reserves.  At the beginning of 2020/21, £2.4m is held in reserve to support the 
remainder of the programme.  The budget is split into three elements:

 Housing Delivery: Staff costs for the core Housing and Growth Deal team.
 Delivery of the Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan including staff 

costs.
 Feasibility: costs of feasibility works including Rail Connectivity Study and 

Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) refresh.

3.3.3 Annex 2 sets out the actual spend to 2019/20 and the forecast spend for the 
remaining programme.  In light of the potential extension of the Affordable 
Housing programme and an extension to the JSSP development, the future 
profile of spend is currently under review.  A proposed budget and funding 
model is being developed and will be reported on in the Q3 report.  

3.3.4 For the Quarter 2 of 2020/21, total spend of £0.5m is reported against a forecast 
spend for the full year of £1.7m.  A summary of actual spend is detailed in the 
table below:

 2020/21

 

Quarter 2 
Spend to 

date
Forecast 
Outturn

Percentage 
spent

 £m £m
 

Housing Delivery 0.2 0.5 40%
Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan 0.3 0.9 33%
Feasibility 0.0 0.3 0%

 
Total Expenditure 0.5 1.7 17%

.
4.0 Risk Management

4.1 The financial performance of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Grant 
funding streams is closely monitored by the Growth Deal Programme Board. 
This will ensure that forecast spend of the Growth Deal period is accurate, 
based on the knowledge of the programme plans, and actual spend is reported, 
based on a monthly review of all transactional activity and balanced to the 
County Council financial systems.

4.2 Any risk identified to the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Funding 
streams will be reported to the Growth Deal Programme Board for review and Page 125



appropriate mitigation action will be agreed. Any strategic risk to the overall 
programme will be reported to the Growth Board.

5.0 Conclusion 

5.1 This report sets out the spend against the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal funding streams for Quarter 2 2020/21.

5.2 The Growth Board is asked to note the 2020/21 Quarter 2 financial report.

Report Author: Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance  

Contact information: Hannah Doney, Head of Corporate Finance Tel: 07584174654

Page 126



Infrastructure Fund Annex 1

Schemes in Feasibility and Delivery in 2020/21

2020/21 

Forecast

£m

Total 

Growth Deal 

Allocation

£m

A361 Bloxham Rd to A4260 Oxford Rd Link Rd 0.300 6.000

A422 Hennef Way, Banbury 0.500 0.500

A4260 and A44 Corridor Improvements 4.000 16.000

Banbury Road Corridor 0.300 2.400

Benson Relief Road 0.250 1.800

Botley Road Corridor 0.800 3.750

Former RAF Upper Heyford Mitigation Package 1.000 21.800

Frilford Junction 0.300 1.500

NW Bicester A4095 Howes Lane / Lords Lane u/bridge 6.000 7.800

Oxford Science Transit 0.000 12.000

Relief to Rowstock 0.600 4.800

SE Corridors / Connecting Oxford 0.850 2.072

Watlington Edge Road 0.500 7.100

Woodstock Road Corridor 0.300 12.500

15.700 100.022

Page 127



Affordable Housing Programme Annex 2

Unit Type

Units Grant 

claimed

Forecast 

Units 

Grant 

claimed

Forecast 

Units 

Forecast 

Grant 

Claim

Estimated 

Units 

Estimated 

Costs

Estimated 

Total Units 

Estimated 

Total Costs 

No. £m No. £m No. £m No. £m No. £m

Social Rented 22 1.210 76 4.125 88 5.050 308 18.798 494 29.183

Affordable Rented 82 3.330 70 2.445 50 2.208 242 10.683 444 18.665

Shared Ownership 87 2.175 46 1.010 137 3.997 202 6.243 472 13.425

Total Units & Spend 191 6.715 192 7.580 275 11.255 752 35.723 1,410 61.272

Original Phasing Units 148 464 710 0 1,322

Difference (43) 272 435 (752) (88)

Grant available 6.500 21.500 32.000 0.000 60.000

Difference (0.215) 13.920 20.745 (35.723) (1.272)

Grant available carried forward (0.215) 13.705 34.450 (1.272)

2018/19 2019/20 2021/222020/21

P
age 128



Capacity Fund Annex 3

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Actual 

Spend

Actual 

Spend

Actual 

Spend

Forecast 

Spend 

Forecast 

Spend 

Forecast 

Spend 

TOTAL

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Housing Delivery (Programme Team_Arc cr) 0.088 0.349 0.480 0.467 0.208 0.162 1.754

Joint Statutory Spatial Plan costs 0.252 1.347 0.901 2.500

Feasibility 0.030 0.042 0.338 0.410

Total Spend 0.088 0.631 1.869 1.706 0.208 0.162 4.664

Grant Received (0.500) (2.500) (2.000) (5.000)

Grant Carried Forward (-) / Drawn down (+) (0.412) (1.869) (0.131) 1.706 0.208 0.162 (0.336)

Year End Reserve Balance 0.412 2.281 2.412 0.706 0.498 0.336P
age 129



1

Growth Board Scrutiny Panel Work Plan 
The Growth Board Scrutiny Panel agrees its own Work Plan, which is reviewed at each meeting. The Panel is encouraged to be strict in 
prioritising key issues for review, in addition to the entirety of the Growth Board’s forthcoming agendas, which will feature as a standard item 
on the Work Plan. The Panel’s ongoing review of their work plan should be considered in conjunction with the Growth Board’s Forward Plan.

Meeting date Item Description and rationale Contact
Q2 Housing and 
Growth Deal 
Progress Report

To consider a report to the Growth Board on the 2020/21 Quarter 2 
progress report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and 
endorse any amendments to the programmes of work as necessary.

Paul Staines, 
Interim Head of 
Programme

Q2 Housing and 
Growth Deal 
Financial Report

To consider a report to the Growth Board on the financial summary for 
Quarter 2 Year 3 (2020/21) for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal.

Hannah Doney, 
Head of 
Corporate 
Finance, 
Oxfordshire 
County Council

Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc 
Update  

To consider an update to the Growth Board from the Chair of the 
Executive Officer Group concerning developments within the Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc.

Andrew Down,
Chair of the 
Growth Board 
Executive 
Officer Group

17th November 
2020 (Virtual live 
streamed 
meeting)

Oxfordshire 
Economic 
Recovery Plan  

To receive a presentation given to the Oxfordshire Growth Board on 22 
September concerning progress in the development of an Economic 
Recovery Plan for Oxfordshire, which is being developed in response to 
Covid-19 pandemic.

Ahmed Goga, 
Director of 
Strategy and 
Programmes, 
OxLEP

P
age 130

A
genda Item

 11



2

Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 Update

To consider an update to the Growth Board on progress in the 
development of the Oxfordshire Plan ahead of the Regulation 18 (Part 2) 
consultation.

Rachel Williams, 
Oxfordshire Plan 
Lead

Inclusive 
Economy 
Seminars 
outcomes

To consider an update to the Growth Board on the outcomes from the 
Inclusive Economy Seminars, and next steps with respect to 
establishing and Inclusive Economy Seminar for Oxfordshire. 

Caroline Green, 
Oxford City 
Council

Zero Carbon 
Housing

To consider an update to the Growth Board with progress made against 
recommendations agreed with respect to zero carbon housing in March 
2020. 

Paul Staines, 
Interim Head of 
Programme

Task & Finish 
Group – Private 
Sector Funding
In Public 
Infrastructure 
Projects

To review and consider endorsing a scoping document on what options 
are available among the Growth Board partners to establish means and 
ways of securing private investment in public infrastructure projects.

Councillor Alex 
Postan,
West 
Oxfordshire 
District Council / 
Amit Alva, 
Growth Board 
Scrutiny Officer

Meeting date Item Description and rationale Lead Officer
The Oxfordshire 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 

To consider an update the Growth Board on progress in updating the 
Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy.

John Disley, 
OCC 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 
Manager26th January 

2021 (Virtual live 
streamed 
meeting)

The Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc

To receive any updates in respect of regional developments within the 
Oxford to Cambridge Arc.  

Andrew Down, 
Growth Board 
Executive 
Officer Group 
Chair

P
age 131



3

Growth Board 
and Health and 
Wellbeing Board 
joint work

To review the recommendations to the Growth Board concerning joint 
working between the Growth Board and the Oxfordshire Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  

Rosie Rowe, 
Health Place 
Shaping Lead 

Action Log

This action log sets out requests for information and actions required by the Scrutiny Panel. Any requests for information that do not 
relate to a specific agenda item will be published on the Growth Board’s website alongside the next available Scrutiny Panel Agenda, 
except where that information requires the disclosure of exempt information, as set out in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

Date 
raised by 
the Panel 

Action Lead 
Member / 

Officer 

Panel Updated/
Discussed on

Progress Notes 

22nd July 
2020

Recommendation 8: That the Growth 
Board in its reporting for the Housing 
Sub-group categorise Affordable 
Housing in two sub-categories
i)          Affordable Housing: 80% 
market rate (NPPF)
ii)         Affordable Housing: 5 x 
median income (mortgage rates)
Thus, giving the actual number of 
truly affordable houses as per the 
median income in Oxfordshire.

Paul Staines, 
Interim Head of 
Programme

17th November 
2020

Outcome of this recommendation 
agreed by the Growth Board to follow as 

a report for publication on 10th 
November 2020.

P
age 132


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 21/10/2020 Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny Panel
	Minutes


	4 Growth Board response to Scrutiny Panel recommendations
	4. Response to Scrutiny Recommendations 21 October 2020

	5 Scrutiny Panel Task and Finish Group Suggestion Form - private investment in infrastructure
	5. Scrutiny Panel Task  Finish Review Group Guidance

	6 Oxfordshire Economic Recovery Plan
	7 The promotion of Low/Zero Carbon Housing in Oxfordshire
	9 Inclusive Economy Seminars Summary Report
	10. Inclusive Economy Summary Report v.1.4

	10a Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Update
	10b Oxfordshire Plan 2050 sub-group update
	10.b $$DraftMinutes151020 Final (1)

	10c Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report - Quarter Two Year Three
	10d Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Report Quarter 2 2020/21
	10.d Finance Report Appendix Q2 EOG

	11 Work Programme for the Scrutiny Panel and Action Log - November 2020

